The Oral Management of Oncology Patients Requiring Radiotherapy, Chemotherapy and / or Bone Marrow Transplantation

Clinical Guidelines

Updated 2012

The Royal College of Surgeons of England /
The British Society for Disability and Oral
Health

WORKING PARTY

1997: Initial Guideline Working Party

- Jeremy Shaw
- Navdeep Kumar
- Monty Duggal
- Debbie Lewis
- Janice Fiske
- Tracey Kinsella
- Tom Nisbet

2004: Revision / update

- Navdeep Kumar

2012: Revision / update

- Navdeep Kumar
- Anthony Brooke
- Mary Burke
- Rebecca John
- Amanda O'Donnell
- Francesca Soldani

CONTENTS

Introd	luctio	on	. 5
Aim o	f the	Guideline	. 6
Targe	t Gro	oup	. 6
Oral N	/lana	gement	. 7
1.	Path	ways of Care	. 7
1.	.1.	Pre-treatment Assessment	. 7
1.	.2.	Acute Phase of Cancer Therapy	. 7
1.	.3.	Discharge Following Acute Phase of Cancer Therapy	. 7
2.	Prev	ventive and Clinical Regimen	. 8
2.	.1.	Prior to Cancer Therapy - at initial diagnosis	. 8
2.	.2.	Prior to Cancer Therapy - oral/dental care	. 8
2.	.3.	During Cancer Therapy	. 9
2.	.4.	Following Cancer Therapy – Prevention and Monitoring	. 9
2.	.5.	Following Cancer Therapy – General Considerations	10
2.	.6.	Following Cancer Therapy – Requirements for Denture Wearers	10
2.	.7.	The Management of Osteoradionecrosis	10
Expla	nato	ry Notes	12
1.	Path	ways of Care	12
2.	Prev	ventive and Clinical Regimen	16
2.	.1.	Prior to Cancer Therapy - at initial diagnosis	16
2.	.2.	Prior to Cancer Therapy - oral/dental care	16
2.	.3.	During Cancer Therapy	18
2	4	Following Cancer Therapy – Prevention and Monitoring	23

	2.5.	Following Cancer Therapy – General Considerations	25				
	2.6.	Following Cancer Therapy – Requirements for Denture Wearers	27				
	2.7.	The Management of Osteoradionecrosis	28				
Ref	erence	98	30				
1	. Intro	oduction	30				
2	. Mar	nagement	30				
3	. Ехр	planatory Notes	30				
4	. Tab	oles 2 and 3- Acute and Chronic Changes During and After Therapy	35				
Tab	les		36				
Tab	le 1: M	lanagement Guidelines Relative to Invasive Dental Procedures	36				
Tab	le 2: A	cute Changes During Therapy	38				
Tab	le 3: C	hronic Changes Following Therapy	42				
Tab	le 4: N	ursing Oral Care Guidelines	45				
App	pendic	es	48				
App	endix '	1: Oral Health Care Screening Chart	48				
App	Appendix 2: Practical Oral Care:						
App	Appendix 3: Oral Assessment Guide52						
App	Appendix 4: patient information Leaflet54						

INTRODUCTION

In the United Kingdom, there are over 300,000 newly diagnosed cases of cancer each year, with the overall age-standardised incidence rate higher among males, at 421 cases per 100,000 compared with 365 per 100,000 for females. Although cancer is predominantly a disease of the elderly, there are over 1,200 cases of childhood cancer diagnosed every year.

The oral cavity is a site where complications frequently develop either as a direct result of the malignancy or as an unwanted effect of the treatment.²⁻⁶ Up to 90% of paediatric oncology patients may suffer oral complications with implications both for longevity and quality of life during and after therapy.⁷

Adults with malignant disease, particularly of the head and neck, are more likely to be from deprived socio economic backgrounds, to smoke and to consume greater than average amounts of alcohol.⁸ They are unlikely to avail themselves of health services except in an emergency.⁹ In common with the general population they will increasingly keep their natural teeth to a greater age but they are likely to have more untreated dental disease.^{10,11}

Child cancer patients largely reflect the child population in general since they represent a cross section of the population. They may have untreated dental caries ¹² and, since many are under five years of age, a significant proportion may not have previously had a dental examination. The outlook, following treatment for malignant disease, has significantly improved in the last three decades. In the future, dentists are increasingly likely to find that they have children and adults in their care who may present before or after cancer treatment requiring urgent dental care. Appropriate preventive regimens and timely oral care can minimise complications and improve quality of life. ^{13,14}

The Calman report on cancer care emphasised the need to focus treatment and management regimens on both longevity and quality of life and much progress has been made since.¹⁵ The patient's oral care and function is an important contributor to post-treatment social adaptation and life quality.¹⁶

AIM OF THE GUIDELINE

To improve the quality of life for patients with malignant disease, who are receiving cancer therapy that has implications for oral comfort and function, by promoting consistent high standards of oral care through a co-ordinated team approach.

TARGET GROUP

Cancer therapy that will normally result in oral complications includes:

- Chemotherapy
- Radiotherapy to the head and neck
- Bone marrow transplantation involves chemotherapy alone or with total body irradiation

HOW TO USE THESE GUIDELINES

These guidelines provide an overview of the oral management of both children and adults receiving radiotherapy, chemotherapy, combinations of both or in combination with surgery.

The recommendations must be seen as a contribution to total patient care and as such should always be implemented in conjunction with the care priorities agreed with the oncology team.

An **Overview** of the recommendations with regards to oral management is summarised at the beginning of the document, with the following **Explanatory Notes** section providing the reader with further information where available.

A list of **References** accessed to support the recommendations is provided. The search strategy used is as per NICE: www.biomedcentral.com/1472-6963/6/47/table/T3. The NICE grading system has been listed within the body of the text where the document has been updated.

There are also **Tables**, **Appendices** and a template for a **Patient Information Leaflet** at the end of the document.

ORAL MANAGEMENT - OVERVIEW

1. Pathways of Care

A clear pathway of care is necessary to prevent or minimise oral complications.

1.1. Pre-treatment Assessment

- **1.1.1** Every relevant oncology protocol should include an early pre-treatment oral assessment.
- **1.1.2** A permanent member of the oncology team is responsible for arranging the oral assessment.
- **1.1.3** A designated permanent member of dental staff is responsible for organising oral care.



1.2. Acute Phase of Cancer Therapy

- **1.2.1.** The Oncology Team must include a dental hygienist responsible for the patients' oral care.
- **1.2.2.** The dental hygienist is responsible to the designated member of dental staff.
- **1.2.3.** The designated member of dental staff is responsible for arranging or carrying out any active dental treatment required.
- **1.2.4.** There are specific written nursing guidelines for routine oral care (Appendix 1).



1.3. Discharge Following Acute Phase of Cancer Therapy

- **1.3.1.** The oncology discharge protocol includes a procedure for ensuring continuing oral care.
- **1.3.2.** The designated member of dental staff is responsible for organising and monitoring appropriate continuing oral care.
- **1.3.3.** Following the receipt of a bone marrow transplant and discharge home, children are reviewed to continually monitor the oral condition.
- **1.3.4.** There is an agreed patient-specific minimum period of oral health monitoring post-treatment.
- **1.3.5.** Children are monitored during their period of growth and development.

2. Preventive and Clinical Regimen

PRIOR TO CANCER THERAPY

2.1. Prior to Cancer Therapy - at initial diagnosis

- **2.1.1.** Oral care information is provided as an integral component of the general care philosophy.⁵ Oral care should be seen as a contribution to total patient care and implemented in conjunction with the care priorities agreed with the oncology team.³
- **2.1.2.** Realistic simple preventive advice is given emphasising its value in maintaining oral comfort during therapy.

2.2. Prior to Cancer Therapy - oral/dental care

- **2.2.1.** A comprehensive oral assessment is undertaken. ^{4.17} This will help:
 - i. Identify existing oral disease and potential risk of oral disease.
 - ii. Remove infectious dental/oral foci before the start of cancer therapy.
 - iii. Prepare the patient for expected side effects of cancer therapy.
 - iv. Establish an adequate standard of oral hygiene to meet the increased challenge.
 - v. Develop a plan for maintaining oral hygiene, providing preventive care, completing oral rehabilitation, and follow-up.
 - vi. Establish the necessary multidisciplinary collaboration within the cancer centre to reduce/alleviate oral symptoms and sequelae before, during and after cancer therapy.
 - Each centre should have a multidisciplinary team to accomplish these goals; the exact methods used may vary between cancer centres. 18
- **2.2.2.** Detailed oral hygiene instruction with reinforcement and elaboration of diet advice is provided in cooperation with the dietician.⁴
- **2.2.3.** Oral hygiene practices are supplemented with the use of an alcohol free chlorhexidine mouthwash or dental gel, if there is gingival disease diagnosed.¹⁹
- **2.2.4.** Impressions of the mouth are taken for study casts to construct applicator trays and where appropriate for obturator planning.
- **2.2.5.** Carious teeth that can be restored are stabilised with appropriate restorations.
- **2.2.6.** All sharp teeth and restorations are suitably adjusted and polished.
- **2.2.7.** The patient is counselled about denture wear during therapy. If a removable prosthesis is worn, it is important to ensure that it is clean and well adapted to the tissue. The patient should be instructed not to wear the prosthesis during cancer therapy treatment, if possible; or at least, not to wear it at night.²⁰
- **2.2.8.** Wherever possible, teeth with a dubious prognosis are removed no less than ten days prior to cancer therapy.²¹
- **2.2.9.** Orthodontic treatment is discontinued.²²

DURING CANCER THERAPY

2.3. **During Cancer Therapy**

- **2.3.1.** The patient receives appropriate support from a dental hygienist.
- **2.3.2.** A high standard of oral hygiene is encouraged, including denture hygiene.
- **2.3.3.** The use of an alcohol free chlorhexidine mouthwash is recommended if toothbrushing is likely to be inadequate for plaque removal; it can be used in addition or as a short-term alternative to tooth brushing
- **2.3.4.** Those patients receiving radiotherapy, or total body irradiation prior to bone marrow transplantation are at high risk of dental caries and should receive dietary advice and fluoride supplements appropriate to their age. ^{23 26}
- **2.3.5.** Children and adults receiving bone marrow transplants often receive aciclovir as a prophylaxis if there is a high risk of viral infections. This is usually prescribed by the oncology team. ^{27,28,29}
- **2.3.6.** Antifungal medication is used following detection of oral candida. For children this may be used routinely as a prophylaxis in some cancer centres.
- **2.3.7.** Every effort is made to reduce the severity of the mucositis.
- **2.3.8.** Every effort is made to reduce the effect of the xerostomia for quality of life and prevention of oral disease.
- **2.3.9.** Patients are advised that removable prostheses may become difficult to wear and may be left out. If there is any discomfort they should be examined by a member of the dental team and adjusted to ensure they are atraumatic.
- **2.3.10.** If the mouth is too painful for cleaning with a soft toothbrush, the tissues can be cleaned with oral sponges if available or gauze moistened with alcohol-free chlorhexidine mouthwash.
- **2.3.11.**Certain food, drinks and mouthwashes, which irritate the oral mucosa, should be avoided to maintain oral comfort.
- **2.3.12.** Dental treatment is avoided wherever possible during therapy.

FOLLOWING CANCER THERAPY

2.4. Following Cancer Therapy – Prevention and Monitoring

2.4.1. Growth and development should be closely monitored. For children there should be a dental review at least every six months. For patients with xerostomia, trismus, severe graft-versus-host disease or severe

- mucositis a three month review is recommended.
- **2.4.2.** Regular and appropriate oral healthcare monitoring is provided by the designated member of dental staff. This should include regular radiographs, oral health advice and preventive regime reinforcement.
- **2.4.3.** Strategies for dealing with xerostomia continue.
- **2.4.4.** Fluoride supplements appropriate to age should be used.
- **2.4.5.** Chlorhexidine gel can be applied with applicators every three months.
- **2.4.6.** In the event of trismus, jaw exercises are implemented.
- 2.4.7. Orthodontic considerations orthodontic treatment can start once the patient has been free of cancer for one year. Any developmental disturbances that may have occurred due to their medical treatment must be assessed to decide on their suitability for orthodontics. Where extensive root damage/lack of root development has occurred, serious consideration must be given to not providing orthodontic treatment. Bisphosphonate treatment is not necessarily a contraindication to orthodontic treatment.

2.5. Following Cancer Therapy – General Considerations

- **2.5.1.** In the event of uncontrolled periodontal disease, vigorous treatment is initiated. This may involve identification of atypical pathogens.
- **2.5.2.** Herpes labialis can be a chronic problem. Topical aciclovir is effective.
- **2.5.3.** Restorations are kept simple ensuring acceptable aesthetics and function.
- **2.5.4.** Dental extractions, if essential, must be performed with appropriate precautions.
- **2.5.5.** Dentures should be avoided wherever possible.
- **2.5.6.** Implant stabilisation of prostheses and obturators may be feasible in some patients.

2.6. Following Cancer Therapy – Requirements for Denture Wearers

- **2.6.1.** Removable prostheses are left out at night.
- **2.6.2.** Glandosane saliva substitute should be used for edentate patients only.
- **2.6.3.** Antifungals are used if a candidal infection is diagnosed.
- **2.6.4.** Appliance wear is discontinued if the mouth becomes painful. Advice must be sought.
- **2.6.5.** Obturators are reviewed regularly. They may require frequent attention with adjustment or remake.

2.7. The Management of Osteoradionecrosis

2.7.1. Establish the diagnosis of osteoradionecrosis (ORN) and stage, ensuring that the bony changes are not due to malignancy. Following a

- diagnosis of ORN it is recommended that:
- **2.7.2.** Oral trauma is minimised, and a high standard of oral hygiene is established.
- **2.7.3.** Local measures are employed to relieve symptoms including topical/systemic analgesia.
- **2.7.4.** New therapeutic use of Antioxidant medications may be beneficial in ORN lesions identified early.
- **2.7.5.** High dose systemic antibiotics are prescribed.
- **2.7.6.** Localised surgical excision of exposed necrosed bone with primary mucosal closure may become necessary.
- **2.7.7.** Evidence suggests that ultrasound may be useful as an adjunct to healing.
- **2.7.8.** In severe cases the use of hyperbaric oxygen therapy (HBOT) may be necessary.
- **2.7.9.** In advanced chronic cases the extent of involvement of bone necrosis must be established followed by radical ablative surgery to remove necrotic bone and soft tissue, and reconstruction with either a pedical or microvascular free flap.

ORAL MANAGEMENT - EXPLANATORY NOTES

These explanatory notes refer to the paragraph numbers indicated in the Pathways of Care and the Preventive and Clinical Regimen (see above)

1. Pathways of Care

1.1 Pre-treatment Assessment

There is no universally accepted pre-cancer therapy dental protocol because of the lack of clinical trials evaluating the efficacy of a specific protocol. A systematic review of the literature revealed only two articles on oral care protocols prior to cancer therapy.³⁰

The time period between diagnosis of cancer and commencement of treatment is usually short. Ideally, a comprehensive oral evaluation should take place 1 month before cancer treatment starts to allow adequate time for recovery from any required invasive dental procedures. The pre-treatment evaluation includes a thorough examination of hard and soft tissues, as well as appropriate radiographs to detect possible sources of infection and pathology.²⁷

Time must be made available during the pre-treatment phase for a dental assessment and necessary emergency care, especially when radiotherapy is planned. The Oral Assessment Guide has been consistently judged to be user-friendly and appropriate for everyday clinical practice with adults and children, as well as a useful research tool.³¹

Often, there is insufficient time before cancer treatment commencement for complex dental treatments. The likelihood that a tooth will require extraction within the next few years has to be assessed. It should also be remembered that not all patients are well motivated, and in such cases, keeping teeth may lead to complications later. Oral problems that already exist, such as periodontitis, caries, failing restorative work (such as leaking crowns or fillings), and ill-fitting dentures may increase the risk of infection.

Elimination of dental disease by judicious restorative dentistry, periodontal treatments and extraction of teeth with questionable prognosis are important preventive strategies to avoid future dental extractions, an important risk factor for ORN. Teeth in direct association with the tumour, in the direct path of the radiation beam or teeth with doubtful prognosis (deep caries, deep periodontal pockets, non-vital teeth) should be extracted as soon as possible before radiotherapy, ideally to allow three weeks for maximal healing time before radiotherapy.³² Any sharp edges of teeth or restorations should be removed to reduce the risk of trauma to the mucosa and severity of mucositis and attendant discomfort. A thorough debridement of plaque and

calculus should decrease gingival inflammation and has the potential to decrease the severity of oral mucositis.³³

Patient education is an integral part of the pre-treatment evaluation and should include a discussion of potential oral complications. It is very important that the dental team impress on the patient that optimal oral hygiene during treatment, adequate nutrition, and avoiding tobacco and alcohol can prevent or minimise oral complications and reduce recurrence / further cancers. To ensure that the patient fully understands what is required, provide detailed instructions on specific oral care practices, such as how and when to brush and floss, how to recognise signs of complications, and other instructions appropriate for the individual. Patients should understand that good oral care during cancer treatment contributes to its success. ¹⁹

For children the following recommendations have been made:³⁴

- Recommendations for oral care at the time of diagnosis:
- All children diagnosed with cancer should have access to or be registered with an NHS general dental practitioner or Community Dental Service. Registration should be maintained during and following cancer treatment
- The routine dental care provider in community or general dental practice should be notified of the cancer diagnosis and arrangements for care during cancer treatment as directed by the hospital dental team.
- For paediatric dental units working with a cancer centre, there should be a mechanism of notification for new patients.
- All children should undergo a dental assessment at the time of diagnosis, if possible before cancer treatment commences.
- If invasive dental treatment is required, this should be undertaken either by a consultant or a specialist in paediatric dentistry as appropriate.
- If there is no paediatric dental unit liaising with the cancer centre, there should be clear communication between the cancer centre and routine care provider.
- Appropriate training in oral assessment should be available for the oncology nurses within the cancer centre, ideally in collaboration with a member of the dental team.

Recommendations for oral hygiene at diagnosis & during cancer treatment:

- Oral hygiene advice should be given to children and parents prior to commencing cancer treatment and this should be provided both verbally and in writing.
- Oral hygiene advice should be given by a designated member of the dental team
 or, in the absence of a dentally trained individual, a member of the medical or
 nursing team who has received appropriate training.
- Advice should be to brush at least twice a day, with a fluoride toothpaste appropriate for the age of the child.
- The toothbrush should be for the sole use of the child and changed on a three monthly basis, or when bristles splay, if earlier. A child's toothbrush should be changed following an oral infective episode.
- If the child has a sore mouth a soft brush with a small head should be used.

- Children need to be helped or supervised by an adult until at least 7 years of age, parents/carers should be instructed on how to brush their child's teeth.
- For babies without teeth, parents/carers should be instructed on how to clean the mouth with oral sponges if available. The sponge should be moistened with water. Some units have discontinued the use of oral sponges due to the risk of inhalation if the sponge becomes detached. In this situation, a soft brush or gauze may be used.
- For children where it is not possible to brush teeth, parents/carers should be instructed on how to clean the mouth with oral sponges/gauze, as a temporary measure. The sponge/gauze should be moistened with water or an antimicrobial agent such as diluted alcohol-free chlorhexidine.
- Additional aids, such as flossing and fluoride supplements should only be prescribed according to risk assessment by a member of the dental team. The need to restrict sugary food and drink to meal times only should be emphasised.

For adults, the following factors should additionally be considered:

- Adults will require input from a specialist in restorative dentistry particularly when post-treatment reconstruction may be necessary. A dental hygienist should work with the patients to achieve high standards of oral hygiene to reduce problems after treatment. Those who are to undergo surgery to the jawbone should be assessed by the restorative dentist who works with the surgeon in the multidisciplinary team.³⁵
- Guidelines for dental extractions, endodontic management, and related interventions (Table 1) can be used as appropriate. Antibiotic prophylaxis prior to invasive oral procedures may be warranted in the context of central venous catheters; the current American Heart Association (AHA) protocol for infective endocarditis and oral procedures is frequently used for these patients.
- It has been reported that 78% of patients experience severe difficulties in mastication following major head and neck surgery with implications for normal social adaptation.³⁷
- The difficulties can be improved by carefully planned oral and dental reconstruction.³⁸
- Depending on the specialty availability and the urgency, treatment may be provided either within the hospital service, the Community Dental Service or the general dental service.
- Where there is any doubt about rapid efficient treatment, or the patient's general health status dictates, dental care should be undertaken within the specialist centre.

The member of dental staff responsible for organising oral care will need to ensure that dental treatment is provided rapidly, taking into consideration the patient's existing continuing care arrangements. Oral surgery should be performed at least seven to ten days before the patient receives myelosuppressive chemotherapy. Medical consultation is indicated before invasive procedures.¹⁹

1.2 Acute Phase of Cancer Therapy

- 1.2.1 Oral care must be seen as an integral part of patient care. A dental hygienist should be responsible for the patient's oral care during therapy. 40 However, dental hygienists may be difficult to recruit. In such circumstances an appropriately trained member of nursing staff can undertake this role. 41
- 1.2.4 It is particularly important for specific nursing guidelines to be available for oral care in the period leading up to and following bone marrow transplantation (Appendix 1).

1.3 Discharge Following Acute Phase of Cancer Therapy

- 1.3.4 In the absence of recurrent disease oral health monitoring should at least be equivalent to the period of monitoring by the Oncology team. Oral examination should be at least biannual. Patients with unstable oral health will require more frequent monitoring. In circumstances of stable oral health, monitoring should be agreed with the primary care dentist with an appropriate procedure for urgent re-referral.
- 1.3.5 Children who have received bone marrow transplants should have a strict follow-up for preventive oral care at four month intervals.

2 Preventive and Clinical Regimen

PRIOR TO CANCER THERAPY

2.1 Prior to Cancer Therapy - at initial diagnosis

When presented with a diagnosis of cancer a patient will be unlikely to consider the oral implications as a high priority. However, it is important that patients and carers are counselled about oral care procedures, diet and the oral implications of the proposed treatment.⁴¹

It is recommended that diet advice is given in liaison with the dietician and presented with the emphasis upon ensuring oral comfort during therapy. Information at this stage must be supported by an appropriately designed information leaflet.

2.2 Prior to Cancer Therapy - oral/dental care

- **2.2.1** The oral assessment must include a radiographic survey for both dentate and edentate patients. There should be a careful assessment of any prosthesis worn.
- 2.2.2 Preventive care introduced at the initial diagnosis should be expanded both for the patient and where appropriate the parent or carer. The advice needs to be set within the overall framework of care set by the oncologist and their support staff. Since many children and some adults need a frequent high calorific intake during therapy, this usually translates into an increased and frequent intake of refined carbohydrate (sugar) which, if sustained, can lead to dental caries.
- 2.2.3 The use of an aqueous alcohol free chlorhexidine mouthwash or dental gel will contribute to the treatment of gingival disease in combination with improved oral hygiene practices. There is some evidence to suggest that it also reduces the incidence of oral complications. ¹⁹ Use either a mouthwash or dental gel twice daily for at least one week prior to commencing treatment. The following are appropriate:
 - i. 10ml of 0.2% aqueous alcohol free chlorhexidine gluconate mouthwash or dental gel (Corsodyl: SmithKline Beecham)
 - ii. 18ml of 0.12% aqueous chlorhexidine gluconate solution (Peridex: Proctor and Gamble).

In children chlorhexidine is rarely used unless toothbrushing cannot be performed. There is often poor compliance because of the taste.

2.2.4 When maxillary surgery is to be combined with radiotherapy, study casts should be used for obturator planning in liaison with the surgical team. If multiple casts are required applicator trays can always be made on duplicate casts to avoid repeated impressions. The applicator trays are used for fluoride or chlorhexidine gel delivery later in the management process.

- **2.2.5** Where time permits it is preferable to restore teeth with a permanent restorative material. When time is limited glass ionomer cements make an effective provisional restoration.
- **2.2.6** Sharp teeth or restorations can be particularly uncomfortable during the period of mucositis. They can contribute to soft tissue damage and ulceration. They should be appropriately adjusted.
- 2.2.7 Dentures or obturators are uncomfortable during the period of mucositis. The patient may wish not to wear dentures during this time. Those who discontinue the use of their dentures often experience problems with denture stability when they return to them, probably as a result of adaptation loss. They should be counselled in advance so that they can make an informed choice and relatives can be prepared for any change in appearance. Obturators must be worn since wound contraction can occur within hours of removal. They must be examined by a member of the dental team if painful.
- **2.2.8** Patients are particularly at risk of ORN when tooth extractions are undertaken both immediately before and after radiotherapy.
 - i. The implications of any dental extractions subsequent to radiotherapy must be sensitively explained to the patient.
 - ii. Extractions should preferably be undertaken up to three weeks prior to commencement of treatment. Ten days should be considered a minimum period.²¹
 - iii. Patients about to undergo bone marrow transplantation should have any appropriate teeth removed at the time of the bone marrow harvest.
 - iv. Children should have all primary teeth within three months of exfoliation and those with any risk of pulpal involvement removed.⁴
 - v. Permanent teeth with a doubtful prognosis should be removed. It should be borne in mind that permanent teeth with non-symptomatic periapical lesions are rarely exacerbated by cancer therapy. 42 Judgement needs to be made on overall prognosis.
 - vi. All teeth in direct association with an intra-oral tumour should be removed.
 - vii. Teeth should be removed with a minimum of trauma and if possible primary closure achieved.
- **2.2.9** Children undergoing orthodontic therapy should have their orthodontic appliance removed and treatment discontinued until one year after completion of cancer therapy.²²

DURING CANCER THERAPY

2.3 **During Cancer Therapy**

- **2.3.1** The period of mucositis is extremely unpleasant. The patient should be constantly reassured during this acute phase about the limited period of this side effect of treatment.
- **2.3.2** Normal daily toothbrushing by the patient, carer or parent, with a powered or manual medium brush should be undertaken, with supplemental use of floss or interdental brushes. ^{43(IIIC).44(IA).45(IA)} If brushing becomes very painful a very soft brush (e.g. TePe Special Care Toothbrush) can be substituted but normal toothbrushing should be resumed at the earliest opportunity. ^{46(IIB)}

Dentures should be rinsed after meals and cleaned at least once daily by brushing with a toothbrush and soaked in chlorhexidine mouthwash overnight. An alternative is dilute sodium hypochlorite solution (Milton's diluted 1 in 80) provided there are no metal components. ^{47(IIB)} Dentures should not be worn at night.

- 2.3.3 Chlorhexidine is an effective antibacterial and is available in concentrations 0.12-0.2% mouthwash. It is important to use the alcohol free preparations. 10ml should be rinsed round the mouth for 1 minute then spat out, twice daily. Thirty minutes should be allowed between use of chlorhexidine and toothbrushing. The 0.2% concentration may be diluted 1:1 with water if it causes mucosal discomfort. 48.49(IIIC)
- **2.3.4** The importance of preventing dental caries cannot be overemphasised.

The need to maintain nutrition and body weight and difficulty with chewing often necessitates highly calorific and cariogenic food supplements (e.g. Fortisips, Nutricia). The dental team should work with the dieticians to keep the length of time these are used to a minimum, use sugar free medicines wherever possible and rinse the mouth after intake. ^{50(IIIC)}

Adults should use an alcohol free fluoride mouth rinse at least once daily (0.05% NaF) at a different time from brushing. In addition they should be prescribed 5,000ppm fluoride toothpaste for use twice daily and fluoride varnish (2.2% fluoride) should be applied twice a year. ^{45(IA)} Children and young adults should have fluoride toothpaste, prescription of systemic supplements (drops or tablets, according to local water fluoride concentration), application of fluoride varnish and fissure sealants and fluoride mouthwashes appropriate to age. ^{48.45(IA)}

An alternative for adults is 1% sodium fluoride gel or 0.4% stannous fluoride

gel application in custom made trays for ten minutes daily. This may be difficult for patients with trismus or after surgery and is not suitable for children.

The mode of delivery of fluoride is less important than compliance to supplements. ^{50(IIIC)}

- **2.3.5** Children and adults receiving bone marrow transplants often receive aciclovir as a prophylaxis if there is a high risk of viral infections. This is usually prescribed by the oncology team. ^{27(111C), 28111C), 29(111C)}
- **2.3.6** There is increased risk of oral fungal infection in patients receiving chemotherapy and/or radiotherapy. ^{52(IIIC).53(IA)} Antifungal medication should be used following detection of oral candida. ^{53(IA).54(IA).55(IIIC).56(IA)} In some oncology centres, antifungal prophylaxis may be used routinely for children. ^{57(IIIC)}

Topical agents may be preferred to systemic agents due to lower risk of side effects. ^{50(IIIC).53(IA)} However there are inconsistent results of efficacy of topical agents and some oncology centres advise that systemic antifungal agents are preferable and each patient's risk should be identified before they are prescribed. ^{53(IA)}

The following are recommended:

- i. Nystatin sugar free oral suspension 100,000 units per ml four times daily for at least 7 days and 48 hours after resolution. ^{56(IA).53(IA).50(IIIC).58} Pastilles are difficult to dissolve in a dry mouth. ^{53(IA)} Compliance may be poor due to unpleasant taste. ^{48.53(IIB)}
- ii. Miconazole oral gel 24mg/ml 10ml applied four times daily continued for 48 hours after resolution is an alternative. 48.58
- iii. Systemic agents have more consistent efficacy and fluconazole is recommended for moderate or severe oropharyngeal candidiasis or unresponsive infection. The regime is 50mg capsules or suspension daily for seven to fourteen days.

Miconazole and fluconazole are contraindicated in patients taking warfarin or statins. 58.59(IIIC)

For children appropriate recommended doses should be used as per the British National Formulary. ^{60(IIIC)}

Denture hygiene is very important if there is fungal infection; dentures should be cleaned with a toothbrush and soaked in chlorhexidine mouthwash or dilute sodium hypochlorite.⁴⁸ Miconazole oral gel should be applied to the fit surface prior to re-insertion, provided it is not contraindicated.^{48.50(IIIC)}

2.3.7 Several interventions for mucositis have been found to have some benefit for mucositis, although there is limited evidence for their efficacy in children. The strength of evidence is variable and may be specific to cancer type and

treatment.61IA)

The use of mucosal shields and intensity modulated radiotherapy is to be encouraged since there is decreased severity of mucositis. ^{62(IIIC)}

Intensive oral hygiene reduces mucositis. 62(IIIC).63(IIB).64(IA)

Poorly fitting dentures or sharp teeth may exacerbate symptoms and should be corrected. 62(IIIC)

Difflam (benzydamine hydrochloride mouthwash 15%) reduces the frequency and severity of mucositis and is recommended. A regime of 15ml four to eight times daily starting before radiotherapy and continuing during and for two to three weeks afterwards is recommended. 66(IIB).64(IA)

Chlorhexidine has not been shown effective in preventing mucositis and is not recommended for prevention or treatment. ^{63(IIB).65(IA)}

Topical application of antimicrobial pastes or lozenges shows some evidence of reduced severity of ulceration ^{61(IA).63(IIB)} however they are not recommended. ^{65(IA)}

The following are not recommended as there is lack of consistent evidence for efficacy: prostaglandins, corticosteroids, sucralfate, allopurinol, aciclovir. ^{63(IIB).64(IA).65(IA)}

Chemotherapy specific recommendations:

Oral cooling for 30 minutes prior to chemotherapy is recommended where mucositis inducing chemotherapeutic agents are used (e.g. 5-FU). ^{61(IA).63(IIB).65(IA)}

Patients receiving high dose chemotherapy or total body irradiation for stem cell transplantation are recommended intravenous keratinocyte growth factor-1 (palifermin) since there are promising effects on preventing mucositis. 63(IIIC) There is no benefit with palifermin taken as a mouthwash. 63(IIIC)

Amifostine given by intravenous or subcutaneous route has been shown to reduce mucositis in a small number of chemotherapy and radiotherapy patients. However there is concern that this cell-protection mechanism may reduce the efficacy of therapy to cancer cells. Although there is no evidence that amifostine affects survival, data is only available to 24 months. Reliable 10 months.

Other palliative management recommended is 2% lidocaine mouthwash used prior to eating 62(IIIC) and systemic pain relief with morphine may be used in

severe cases.

2.3.8 Prevention of xerostomia:

- Parotid function can be partially maintained by radiotherapy delivery that spares the contralateral gland. Minimising the dose of radiotherapy to the parotid glands, either by IMRT or 3-dimensional conformal radiotherapy, is encouraged as has been shown to improve xerostomia-related quality of life. High partial partial
- Amifostine given with radiotherapy has been shown to protect the salivary glands, with patients experiencing benefits, largely in acute and later stages. 73(IIB).72(IIB) However the improvements were sometimes minor and there is lack of long term data, therefore its use is only recommended with caution. 74(IIIC).76(IA).64(IA)

Salivary stimulation:

- Pilocarpine is recommended after radiotherapy where some salivary function remains, provided there is no medical contraindication.^{75(IIB).64(IA).70(IIIC).72(IIB)} However a Cochrane review found that only half of patients respond.^{77(IIC)} The dose is 5-10mg orally three times a day.^{78(IIIC).79(IIB).80(IIIC).64(IA)} Side effects can be problematic so dose should be kept to a minimum.^{77(IA)} It may take more than two months to reach maximum effect.^{81(IIIC)} There is insufficient evidence to recommend pilocarpine during radiotherapy.^{72(IIB)}
- Stimulation by chewing gum may be recommended where there is some salivary function although there is a limited evidence base. 72(IIB)
- Acidic pastilles are not recommended other than for edentulous patients as these may cause tooth erosion and sensitivity (e.g. Salivix (Provalia); SST (Medac)).
- Acupuncture has minimal side effects and potential to increase salivary flow after radiotherapy where there is some residual function and is recommended.^{72(IIB)}

Saliva substitution:

For many patients saliva replacement is the only option. Many use frequent sips of water, or a spray bottle of water.

Saliva is difficult to replicate and there are several substitutes with little indication of which is most effective. 82(IIIC) It is recommended patients sample alternative therapies to assess which suits them best. Improvement is only short term. Products may contain fluoride, or electrolytes to reduce

demineralisation or antibacterial components.^{81(IIIC).72(IIB)} The following are suggested:

- Saliva orthana (ASPharma)
- Biotene Oral Balance saliva replacement gel and Biotene toothpaste (Anglian Pharma). 84(IIIC).83(IIB)
- BioXtra (Molar)85(IIB)
- **2.3.9** If dentures are left out during the period of mucositis they should be cleaned and kept moist. ^{86(IIIC)} If candidal infection has been diagnosed this should be treated (see 2.3.6).

Obturators should not be discontinued. If painful a clinical examination and adjustment is indicated.

- **2.3.10** Foam swabs are not as effective as a toothbrush but there may be times, for example post-surgery or in advanced disease, when either foam swabs if available (Polygon oral swabs, Rochaille Medical Limited, Cambridge, U.K) or gauze, are necessary. Use soaked in chlorhexidine three to four times daily. ^{87(IIIC).88(IIIC).89(IIB)} Care should be taken with oral care if patients are at risk of aspirating following surgery/radiotherapy. Patients should be sitting up and minimal amount of fluid used and aspiration should be available. Nursing staff should be trained in oral care and family and carers may be involved. ^{90(IIB)}
- **2.3.11** Avoidance of certain food, drinks and mouthwashes can help to prevent discomfort.

The following should be avoided:

- i. Hard food, spicy food, strongly flavoured toothpaste: these traumatise the tissues
- ii. Alcohol (especially spirits), tobacco: these exacerbate xerostomia
- iii. Fizzy drinks, acidic fruit and fruit drinks: these contribute to erosion and sensitivity, especially in the dry mouth where there is reduced saliva buffering.
- 2.3.12 Dental treatment should be avoided during the period of cancer therapy because the mouth may be very sore and there is risk of systemic infection during the period of mucositis. If the patient is having chemotherapy the suppressive effect on the bone marrow may cause low platelets, low white cells and anaemia. Therefore special care needs to be taken and timing of interventive dental treatment should be agreed with the haematologists or the oncology team. Pulp treatment of primary teeth during the course of chemotherapy is contra-indicated. **B(IIIC)** Extractions are always contraindicated after radiotherapy to the head and neck area, careful patient pre-treatment assessment and planning should avoid the need.

FOLLOWING CANCER THERAPY

2.4 Following Cancer Therapy – Prevention and Monitoring

The risk of uncontrolled dental disease following cancer treatment can continue for at least twelve months following chemotherapy, radiotherapy or total body irradiation prior to bone marrow transplantation.

Susceptibility to dental disease can be lifelong.

2.4.1 In children general growth and development including facial growth and dental development should be closely monitored. Studies of combined radio and chemotherapy show that oral complications are three times more common in children than adults. Damage to developing teeth is a frequent complication following radiotherapy or total body irradiation. Chemotherapy appears to have little permanent effect on oral health, but there is some evidence to suggest that chemotherapy alone may result in an increased incidence of dental developmental disturbances Sequelae risk is dependent on treatment received, age of patient at diagnosis and time since completion of treatment.

It is the dental care professional's responsibility to emphasise good oral care. Explanation must be carried out to ensure understanding of the long term dental and cranio-facial adverse effects that can follow treatment for malignant disease. ^{96(IA)}

Patients who have suffered from severe mucositis or severe graft-versus-host disease will require close monitoring due to increased risk of malignant transformation of the mucosa. ^{97(IIB)}

2.4.2 Following treatment, and as taste returns, there is an unpleasant period of altered taste. Many patients will seek comfort in sweet food and drink. Diet counselling needs to be rigorously reinforced at regular intervals particularly with regard to sugar and acid consumption. Due to weight loss, introduction of dietary supplements may occur by a dietician – the high cariogenic potential of such supplements must be conveyed to the parent/patient. ^{96(IA)} Plaque and gingival scores need to be carefully monitored by the dental hygienist or dental professional looking after the patient.

Teeth must be brushed two to three times daily with a fluoridated toothpaste (at least 1000ppm for children under three years of age, 1350-1500ppm for children over three years of age and up to 5000ppm for adults) and a non-cariogenic diet encouraged.⁴⁵

Bone marrow transplant patients on cyclosporin may need more frequent

hygienist support to help maintain health in the presence of gingival hyperplasia. 98(IIB)

Regular oral healthcare monitoring should be undertaken by a designated member of dental staff in close liaison with the dental hygienist.

Where continuing care is provided within the Community Dental Service or General Dental Service there should be liaison with the dentist responsible for that care.

- **2.4.4** The role of fluoride in the continuing prevention of dental caries is essential to the maintenance of oral health. Sometimes a fluoride mouthwash is advised to increase the amount of available fluoride this depends on co-operation and is not recommended for very young children. ^{99(IA)}
- **2.4.5** Chlorhexidine gel can be applied every three months using an applicator. The gel should be placed in the applicator and seated in the mouth for five minutes each night over a two week period to try and help the reduction of intraoral bacteria. ^{100(IIB)}
- 2.4.6 Despite better focused radiation dose and improved screening, progressive jaw stiffness and limitation of opening remains a common complication. ^{101(IIB)} In the event of limitation, a strict regimen of mouth exercises are advisable to minimise the problem. A simple wedge made by stacking and taping together tongue spatulas can be used by the patient both as a guide to improved opening and as a target at least 3-4 times daily. ^{102(IB)} Trigger point injections, analgesics and muscle relaxants can also be used. ^{103(IIB)} Patients who received treatment for a tumour of the masticatory muscles or temporomandibular joint should use exercises routinely post-treatment. Increasing levels of trismus should be investigated for potential local recurrence. ^{104(IIB)}
- 2.4.7 There should be a year delay post- cancer treatment before orthodontic treatment is commenced. This is a recommended time following which the risk of relapse is decreased (and the patient is no longer taking immunosuppressants). Consideration must be given to the forces to be used and length of time that the patient will be in active orthodontic treatment. This is due to possible damage/effects that may have occurred previously to the roots of the teeth. When roots have either been damaged or not developed properly, orthodontic work can have detrimental effects on the root structure so the pros and cons of such treatment must be explained carefully to the patient. Bisphosphonate treatment has been shown to inhibit tooth movement in animal studies but this has not been shown in humans for a particular dose or length of therapy. Hospital Embarking on orthodontic therapy must be discussed with the patient's medical team in advance.

2.5 Following Cancer Therapy – General Considerations

Patients on maintenance chemotherapy should have a full blood count performed within the 24-48 hour period prior to any proposed dental treatment that might result in bleeding/bacteraemia. The results of such blood tests should be discussed with the patient's medical team and appropriate precautions taken.

2.5.1 Patients who have received radiation therapy to the head and neck region are at increased risk of progressive, uncontrolled periodontal tissue breakdown and/or ORN. 107,108(III) This is likely due to reduced repair capacity of the periodontium following direct irradiation with progressive widening of the periodontal ligament, destruction of the lamina dura and progressive loss of attachment having been reported. 109(II) Furthermore, the risk of periodontal infection is increased because of radiation induced hyposalivation, the plaque accumulation. concomitant increased and the microflora. 108(II) There would not, however, appear to be any significant longterm changes to periodontal pathogens following head/neck radiation therapy treatment of the periodontium had included irrigation chlorhexidine). 111(II)

Poor oral health status post-radiotherapy has been found to increase the risk of ORN. As such any evidence of periodontal disease should be treated rigorously but nonetheless causing minimal damage to the adjacent structures; trauma to the soft tissues can also predispose to ORN. 108(II).113(II).114(II)

In the few instances of cyclosporin induced gingival hyperplasia, oral hygiene instructions, supra- and subgingival scaling, polishing, and gingival curettage should be carried out in the first instance with this having been found to reduce the need for gingivectomy. ^{115(II)} For those patients where this is not successful then gingival surgery may be required. ¹¹⁶

- **2.5.2** Herpes labialis can be a chronic problem. Topical aciclovir (5% cream applied five times daily for five to ten days, starting at first sign of attack) is effective. ^{117(I).118(I)}
- **2.5.3** Restorations should be simple, functional and provide acceptable aesthetics.

Where appropriate, a restorative material with fluoride release should be used. Of note, conventional glass ionomer restorations have been found to perform more poorly that resin modified glass ionomer, composite resin, and amalgam restorations in patients who have been treated with radiotherapy. 119(II)

In those patients who have xerostomia related to radiation therapy, cervical caries is problematic and particularly so in those patients who fail to comply with preventive measures. Conservative restorative management of cavitated lesions is to be recommended in the first instance. Full/partial coverage crowns should be provided only when the patient can demonstrate good oral hygiene; caries can quickly progress around the margins of full/partial coverage crowns with the potential for eventual 'carious amputation' of the crown. Should a full coverage restoration be warranted, the margins should be subgingival. ^{120(II)}

Routine restorative treatment must be delayed until the patient is in remission,

when a careful study of the medical history should be made. Some children may have developed other medical complications as the result of cancer treatment (e.g. cardiomyopathy) with possible implications for restorative care.

2.5.4 Where possible, dental extractions should be avoided in irradiated patients due to the risk of ORN. A recent systematic review has estimated the total incidence of ORN after tooth extraction in irradiated patients to be 7%. When extractions were performed in conjunction with prophylactic hyperbaric oxygen therapy (HBOT), the incidence was 4% while extraction in conjunction with antibiotics gave an incidence of 6%. Cancer patients who have received bisphosphonate therapy are also at increased risk of osteonecrosis. 122(III)

Although there is no conclusive evidence regarding pre-extraction antibiotic prophylaxis to prevent ORN, the general consensus would recommend antibiotic prophylaxis and continued antibiotics until completion of healing. Co-amoxiclav / amoxicillin (metronidazole in those allergic to penicillins) are generally the drugs of choice. 122(II).123(II)

Alcohol free 0.2% chlorhexidine gluconate mouthwash is also recommended prior to extractions and the use of low-adrenaline/adrenaline free local anaesthesia may also reduce the risk of ORN and as such their use is recommended. Any extractions completed should be performed with minimal trauma and, where possible, soft tissue primary closure obtained. 121(I)

Where extractions are required HBOT is recommended both before and after tooth removal. However the significant number of "dives" involved and limited local availability can lead to poor compliance.

Patients are at particular risk of ORN when:

- i. The total radiation dose exceeded 60Gy. 121(I).127(II)
- ii. The dose fraction was large with a high number of fractions.
- iii. There is local trauma as the result of a tooth extraction (especially mandibular extractions), uncontrolled periodontal disease or an ill-fitting prosthesis.
- iv. The person is immunodeficient.
- v. The person is malnourished.

Where there is a high risk of ORN and where it is clinically feasible, serious consideration to root canal therapy and restoration/crown amputation should be made. 114(II).120(II).122(II)

- 2.5.5 Dentures should be avoided wherever possible. Appliances will contribute to plaque retention and oral disease, particularly when there is xerostomia. When dentures are essential to ensure good function following cancer treatment, their construction will aid the ability to chew solid food and, by extrapolation, promote social adaptation and weight gain. 129(II)
- **2.5.6** Osteointegrated implants are a useful adjunct to fixed or removable prosthesis provision to improve prosthesis stability.

Regarding zygomatic implants, there is limited high quality evidence available at present. As such, the routine use of zygomatic implants is not to be

encouraged. 130(I)

There is limited evidence available regarding the use of HBOT prior to implant placement in irradiated patients. HBOT may not offer any appreciable clinical benefits with respect to implant success. ^{131(I)} Its use, however, should be considered and offered where it is available until further clinical trials have been completed.

The placement of implants in patients who are being treated with bisphosphonates is not recommended with implant placement increasing the damage to the bony structures and increasing the risk of osteonecrosis. 122(II)

The provision of implants should take into consideration both the patient's prognosis and the published national guideline on their use. ^{132(II)}

2.6 Following Cancer Therapy – Requirements for Denture Wearers

- **2.6.1** Appliances should be removed and left out of the mouth overnight and subject to the cleansing regimen indicated previously (para 2.3.9). ^{135(I)} Obturators should not be left out at night for the six months following treatment.
- **2.6.2** For those edentulous patients who have xerostomia, Glandosane can be applied to the fit surface of their prosthesis prior to reinsertion; this may help to alleviate xerostomia. ^{136(I)}
 - Artificial saliva reservoirs, incorporated into complete or partial prostheses, have been shown to relieve xerostomia symptoms temporarily. 137(III).138(III)
- **2.6.3** In the event of oral candidal infection, antifungals should be prescribed for at least two consecutive weeks:
 - i. Miconazole varnish or gel applied to fit denture surface. This should be avoided if the patient is taking warfarin; the anticoagulant effect is enhanced by miconazole. 139(II)
 - ii. Nystatin powder- 500,000-1000000 units per application of Viscogel can be incorporated into a denture soft lining material. The nystatin powder is added when the powder and liquid of the liner are mixed. The fungicidal activity of such modified lining materials reduces with time and as such requires to be changed on a regular basis e.g. between seven and fourteen days. 140(II).141(II).142(II).143(II).144(II)
 - iii. Amphotericin B should be avoided since its antifungal properties are inactivated by Viscogel. 141(II)
 - iv. Tea tree oil (*M. Alternifolia*) mixed with the Coe Comfort tissue conditioner has an anti-fungal effect and could be used as an alternative therapy for denture stomatitis which is resistant to traditional therapies. ^{145(II)}
 - v. Microwave disinfection of maxillary complete dentures has also been found to be effective. 146(II)

- vi. Fluconazole may be indicated for resistant infections. 147(1)
- **2.6.4** Appliance wear should be discontinued if the mouth becomes painful and advice must be sought. New dentures may be required to alleviate symptoms.
- **2.6.5** Obturators should be reviewed regularly. They may require frequent attention with adjustment or remake.

2.7 The Management of Osteoradionecrosis

ORN may be a major complication following surgery or trauma to a previously irradiated maxilla or more commonly mandible, in the proven absence of tumour. Radiation induced vascular insufficiency rather than infection contributes to bone death

Risk factors include the total radiation dose, modality of treatment, fraction size and dose rate, oral hygiene, timing of tooth extractions or other invasive procedures the continued use of tobacco and alcohol may further increase the incidence of ORN.

This condition is characterised by deep seated bone pain often with a purulent discharge which may include sequestrated bone and may result in significant bone loss. If treated inadequately or left untreated it can be majorly debilitating and significantly impair quality of life. 150

- **2.7.1** Basic criteria for staging of ORN:
 - Stage 0: mucosal defects only;
 - Stage I: radiological evidence of necrotic bone with intact mucosa;
 - Stage II: positive radiographic findings with denuded bone intraorally;
 - Stage III: clinically exposed radionecrotic bone, verified by imaging techniques, along with skin fistulas and infection. Radiological evidence of bone necrosis within the radiation field, where tumour recurrence has been excluded.¹⁴⁹
- **2.7.2** Strenuous efforts should be made to avoid ORN by careful oral health monitoring and ensuring prevention compliance, timely dental treatment and dealing promptly with oral trauma. ¹⁵¹
- **2.7.3** Oral trauma can be reduced by implementation of a soft diet and adjustment or removal of any denture that could be contributing to trauma. Extractions are to be avoided where possible, particularly in the mandible
- 2.7.4 Antioxidant agent, pentoxifylline (PTX), facilitates microcirculation, and inhibits the inflammatory mechanisms, promotes fibroblast proliferation and the formation of extracellular matrix. Tocopherol (vitamin E) protects the cell membrane against peroxidation. A synergic effect has been observed between PTX and tocopherol in the treatment of ORN. These are accessible, well tolerated and safe drugs at a suggested daily dosage of: PTX dose of 800mg/day and vitamin E 1000 IU/day (5 days a week), (More clinical trials are required to validate this treatment). 152
- **2.7.5** High dose antibiotic regimes should be instigated when symptomatic ORN is

diagnosed and continued until a definitive treatment outcome or symptom relief is achieved. In more chronic cases the presence of Actinomycoses must be considered as this will alter the dynamics of treatment protocols.

The antibiotic of choice should be broad spectrum with a wide field of action such as amoxicillin with clavulanic acid, antibiotic prophylaxis prior to extraction or sequestrectomy should be given and continued until mucosal integrity has occurred

It is recommended that antibiotic treatment is initiated prior to HBOT and continued through the surgical phase of ORN management, and post-surgery HBOT. ^{151,153-156}

- 2.7.6 Localised disease control to remove sequestra and other debris from intra-oral defects in combination with adjunctive antibiotics is completed to gain pain relief. This treatment also facilitates sampling of material for culture and histopathology to establish both the non-malignant potential of diseased tissue and specificity and the sensitivity of microbial population to antimicrobial therapy.
- **2.7.7** There have been promising results with ultrasound at frequencies of 3mHz pulsed one in four at an intensity of 1W/cm² applied to the mandible for ten minutes daily for fifty days. ^{157.158}
- 2.7.8 There is a risk of serious complications developing after radiation cancer treatment due to late radiation tissue injury (LRTI). HBOT involves breathing oxygen under increased atmospheric pressure in a specially designed chamber. It is used as a treatment to improve oxygen supply to damaged tissue and stimulate healing. For patients with LRTI affecting tissues of the head, & neck, HBOT is associated with improved outcome. HBOT also appears to reduce the chance of ORN following tooth extraction in an irradiated field. There is an increased risk of tumour recurrence in patients who receive HBOT. 159-165
- 2.7.9 In advanced chronic cases the extent of involvement of bone necrosis must be established. This can be via imaging "Cone Beam CT" or via chemical markers such as tetracycline to establish the healthy bone margins at surgery. This is then followed by radical ablative surgery to remove necrotic bone and soft tissue, including hemi-mandibulectomy and reconstruction with either a pedical or microvascular free flap. This procedure aims to achieve closure of orocutaneous fistulae and restore function and aesthetics. 166-170

REFERENCES

1. Introduction

- 1. Office for National Statistics: Cancer Incidence and Mortality in the UK 2006-2008. Released 1 June 2011.
- Systematic reviews of oral complications from cancer therapies, Oral Care Study Group, MASCC/ISOO: methodology and quality of the literature. Support Care Cancer. 2010;18:979-84. Epub 2010.
- M.J. Shaw, N.D. Kumar, M. Duggal, J. Fiske, D.A. Lewis and T. Kinsella et al., Oral management of patients following oncology treatment: literature review, Br J Oral Maxillofac Surg 38 (5) (2000), 519–524
- 4. Fayle, S.A., Duggal, M.S., Williams, S.A. Oral problems and the dentists role in the management of paediatric oncology patients. Dental Update 1992: May: 152-159.
- 5. Peterson, D.E., Sonis, S.T. Oral complications of cancer chemotherapy. Present status and future studies. Cancer Treatment Reports 1982: 66: 1251-1256.
- 6. Driezen, S., Bodey, G.P., Rodriguez, V. Oral complications of cancer chemotherapy. Postgraduate Medicine 1975: 58: 82-95.
- 7. Sonis, A.L., Sonis S.T. Oral Complications of Cancer Chemotherapy in Paediatric Patients. J. Pedod. 1979: 3: 122-128.
- 8. Townsend, P. Poverty in the United Kingdom 1979. London: Penguin.
- Blane, D. Inequality and Social Class. Sociology Applied to Medicine. Chapter 8. Scambler, G. (Ed) 1997. London: W.B. Saunders Co. Ltd.
- 10. Todd, J.E., Lader, D. Adult Dental Health 1988, United Kingdom, HMSO, 1990.
- 11. Lockhart, P.B., Clarke, J. Pre-therapy dental status of patients with malignant conditions of the head and neck. Oral Surgery Oral Medicine Oral Pathology. 1994; 77: 236-241.
- 12. Duggal, M.S., Curzon, M.E.J., Bailey, C.C., et al. Dental Parameters in the Long Term Survivors of Childhood Cancer compared with Siblings. Oral Oncology. 1997: 33: 348-353.
- 13. Joyston-Bechal, S. Prevention of Dental Diseases following Radiotherapy and Chemotherapy. Int. Dent. J. 1992: 42: 47-53.
- 14. Sonis, S, Kunz, A. Impact of improved dental services on the frequency of oral complications of cancer therapy for patients with non head and neck malignancies. Oral Surgery Oral Medicine Oral Pathology. 1988; 65: 19-22.
- 15. Calman, K., Hine, D. A Policy Framework for Commissioning Cancer Services: A report by the expert advisory group on Cancer to the Chief Medical Officers of England and Wales. Department of Health, April 1995.
- 16. Vaughan, E.D. An analysis of morbidity following major head and neck surgery with particular reference to mouth function. Journal of Maxillofacial Surgery. 1982; 10: 129-134

3 Management

- 17. Radiation Therapy and You. National Institute for Health: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services: Publication No. 25-2227: 1993, 32.
- 18. Schiødt M, Hermund NU. Management of oral disease prior to radiation therapy. Support Care Cancer. 2002 Jan;10(1):40-3.
- 19. Rutkauskas J.S., Davis J.W. Effects of chlorhexidine during immunosuppressive chemotherapy. A preliminary report. Oral Surg. Oral Med. Oral Pathol 1993 76: 441-448.
- 20. Oral Complications of Cancer Treatment: What the Oncology Team Can Do. http://www.nidcr.nih.gov/OralHealth/Topics/CancerTreatment/OralComplicationsCancerOncology.htm.
- 21. Clayman, L. Clinical controversies in oral and maxillofacial surgery: Part two. Management of dental extractions in irradiated jaws: a protocol without hyperbaric oxygen. J Oral. Maxillofacial Surg. 1997: 55: No. 3: 275-281.
- Sheller, B, Williams, B, Orthodontic management of patients with haematological malignancies. Am.J.Orthod.Dentofac.Orthop. 1996; 109: 575- 80.
- 23. Jones LR, Toth BB, Keene HJ, Effects of total body irradiation on salivary gland function and caries associated oral microflora in bone marrow transplant patients. Oral Surg, Oral Med, Oral Pathol, Radiol Endod 1998; 86: 286-92
- 24. Epstein JB, Chin EA, Jacobson JJ, Rishiraj B, Le N. The relationships among fluoride, cariogenic oral flora, and salivary flow rate during radiation therapy. Oral Srug Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod 1998; 86: 286-92
- 25. Kielbassa A, Hinkelbein W, Hellwig E, Meyer-Luckel H. Radiation-related damage to dentition. *Lancet Oncol* 2006; **7:** 326-335
- 26. Aguiar GP, Jham BC, Magalhāes CS, Sensi LG, Freire AR. A review of the biological and clinical aspects of radiation caries. J Contemp Dent Pract 2009; 10(4):83-89.
- 27. Epstein, J.B., Ransier, A., Sherlock, C.H., Spinelli, C.H., Reece, D. Acyclovir prophylaxis of oral herpes virus during bone marrow transplantation. Eur J Cancer B. Oral Oncol 1996b: 32: 158-162.
- 28. Prentice, H.G., Gluckman, E., Powles, R.L., Ljungman, P., Milpied, N.J., Camara R, Mandelli, F., Kho, P., Kennedy, L., Bell, A.R. Long-term survival in allogeneic bone marrow transplant recipients following acyclovir prophylaxis for CMV infection. The European Acyclovir for CMV Prophylaxis Study Group. Bone Marrow Transplant 1997: 19: 129-133.
- 29. Momim, F., Chandrasekar, P.H. Antimicrobial prophylaxis in bone marrow transplantation. Ann Intern Med 1995: 123: 205-215

4 Explanatory Notes

- 30. Hong C.H., Napeñas J.J., Hodgson B.D., et al.: A systematic review of dental disease in patients undergoing cancer therapy. Support Care Cancer 18 (8): 1007-21, 2010
- 31. Gibson F, Auld E.M., Bryan G, Coulson S, Craig J.V., Glenny A.M. A systematic review of oral assessment instruments: what can we recommend to practitioners in children's and young people's cancer care? Cancer Nurs. 2010 Jul-Aug;33(4):E1-E19.

- 32. Makkonen T.A., Kimnki A, Makkoness T.K., Nordman E. Dental extractions in relation to radiation therapy of 224 patients. Int J Oral Maxillofac Surg 1987;16:56.
- 33. Joshi V.K. Dental treatment planning and management for the mouth cancer patient. Oral Oncol. 2010 Jun; 46(6):475-9.
- 34. Glenny A.M., Gibson F, Auld E, Coulson S, Clarkson J.E., Craig J.V., Eden O.B., Khalid T, Worthington H.V., Pizer B; Children's Cancer and Leukaemia Group (CCLG)/Paediatric Oncology Nurses Forum's (CCLG-PONF) Mouth Care Group The development of evidence-based guidelines on mouth care for children, teenagers and young adults treated for cancer.. Eur J Cancer. 2010 May;46(8):1399-412.
- 35. Service guidance on improving outcomes in head and neck cancers, Published by National Institute for Clinical Excellence; November 2004. http://www.nice.org.uk/nicemedia/pdf/csghn_themanual.pdf.
- 36. Williford SK, Salisbury PL 3rd, Peacock JE Jr, et al.: The safety of dental extractions in patients with hematologic malignancies. J Clin Oncol 7 (6): 798-802, 1989.
- 37. Overholser C.D., Peterson D.E., Bergman S.A., et al.: Dental extractions in patients with acute nonlymphocytic leukemia. J Oral Maxillofac Surg 40 (5): 296-8, 1982
- Oral Complications of Chemotherapy and Head/Neck Radiation (PDQ www.cancer.gov/cancertopics/pdq/.../oralcomplications/
- 39. Vaughan, E.D., Bainton, R., Martin, I.C. Improvements in morbidity of mouth cancer using micro vascular free-flap reconstructions. Journal of Maxillofacial Surgery 1992; 20: 132-134.
- 40. Heals, D. Oral Hygiene in patients with advanced cancer. Prof. Nurse. 1993: 8: 391-399.
- 41. Allbright, A. Oral care for the cancer chemotherapy patient. Nursing Times 1984: 80: 40-42.
- 42. Peters, E., Monopoli M., Woo SB., Sonis S., Assessment of post-endodontic asymptomatic periapical radiolucencies in bone marrow transplant recipients. Oral Surg. Oral Med. Oral Path. 1993; 76: 45-48.
- 43. Sicilia A, Arrequi I, Gallego M, Cabezas B, Cuesta S. Home oral higiene revisited. Options and advice. Oral Health Preventive Dent 2003; 1: 407-422.
- 44. Robinson PG, Deacon SA, Deery C at al. Manual versus powered toothbrushing for oral health. The Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2005, Issue 2.
- 45. Delivering Better Oral Health. An evidence-based toolkit for prevention, 2nd edition 2009, Department of Health and British Association for Study of Community Dentistry www.doh.org.uk
- 46. Borowski, E., Benhamon, E, Pico, J.L., Laplanche, A., Margainaud, J.P., Hayat, M. Prevention of oral mucositis in patients treated with high-dose chemotherapy and bone marrow transplantation. A randomised controlled trial comparing two protocols of dental care. Oral Oncol Eur J. Cancer. 1994: 30B: 93-97.
- 47. Sweeney P, Davies A. (2010) Oral hygiene, in Davies A, Epstein J (eds) Oral Complications of Cancer and its Management, pp 43-51. Oxford University Press, Oxford
- 48. Drug Prescribing for Dentistry, 2008. Scottish Dental Effectiveness Programme. www.sdcep.org.uk accessed July 2011
- 49. Laing E, Ashley P, Gill D, Naini F. An Update on oral hygiene products and Techniques. Dental Update 2008; 35; 270-279
- 50. Meurman JH, Gronroos L. Oral and dental health care of oral cancer patients: hyposalivation, caries and infections. Oral Oncology 2010; 46: 464-467
- 51. Barclay SC, Turani D. Current Practice in Dental Oncology in the UK. Dental Update 2010; 37:555-561
- 52. Ramirez-Amador V., Silverman, S. Jnr., Mayer, P, Tyler, M, Quivey, J. Candidal colonization and oral candidiasis in patients undergoing oral and pharyngeal radiation therapy. Oral Surg, Oral Med, Oral Pathol, Radiol Endod 1997: 84: 149-153.
- 53. Lalla R, Latortue M, Hong C Ariyawardana A, D'Amato-Palumbo S et al. A systematic review of oral fungal infections in patients receiving cancer therapy. Support Care Cancer 2010; 18:985-992.
- 54. British Society for Antimicrobial Chemotherapy. Chemoprophylaxis for candidosis and aspergillosis in neutropenia and transplantation: A review of recommendations. J Antimicrob Chemother 1993: 32: 5-21.
- 55. Taylor, TL. Nystatin prophylaxis in immunocompromised children. Ann. Pharmacother 1996: 30: 534-535.
- 56. Pappas PG, Kauffman CA, Andes D, et al. Clinical practice guidelines for the management of candidiasis:2009 update by the Infectious diseases Society of America. Clin Infect Dis 48:503-535
- 57. Epstein, JB., Ransier A, Lunn,R, Chin E, Jacobson,JJ., Le, N, Reece, D. Prophylaxis of candidiasis in patients with leukemia and bone marrow transplants. Oral Surg, Oral Med, Oral Pathol, Radiol Endod 1996a: 81: 291-296.
- 58. British National Formulary, 61, 2011. www.BNF.org
- 59. Pemberton, M.N., Sloan, P., Ariyaratnam, S., Thakker, N.S., Thornhill, M.H. Derangement of warfarin anti-coagulation by miconazole oral gel. BDJ, 1998, 184,;2:68-69.
- 60. Hoppe JE. Treatment of oropharyngeal candidiasis in immunocompetent infants: a randomized multicenter study of miconazole gel vs. Nystatin suspension. The Antifungals Study Group. Paediatr Infect Dis J 1997: 16:288-293.
- 61. Worthington HV, Clarkson JE, Bryan G, Furness S, Glenny A-M, Littlewood A, McCabe MG, Meyer S, Khalid T. Interventions for preventing oral mucositis for patients with cancer receiving treatment. Published Online: April 13, 2011.
- 62. Treister N, Sonis S. Mucositis: biology and management. Otolarygol Head Neck Surg 2007; 15:123-129
- 63. Stockman MA, Spijkervet FKL, Boezen HM, Schouten JP, Roodenburg JLN, de Vries EGE. Prevention Intervention Possibilities in Radiotherapy- and Chenotherapy-induced Oral Mucositis: results of Meta-analyses J Dent Res 2006: 85(8): 690-700
- 64. Scottish Intercollegiate Guidelines Network.(SIGN) 90. Diagnosis and management of head and neck cancer. A national clinical guideline. 2006. Available from www.sihn.ac.uk. Accessed June 2011
- 65. Keefe DM, Schubert MM, Elting LS, Sonis ST, Epstein JB, RAber-Durlacher JE, et al. Updated clinical practice guidelines for the prevention and treatment of mucositis. Cancer 2007. 109(5):820-31.

- 66. Epstein, JB., Silverman S,Jr., Paggiarino DA, Crockett S, Schubert MM, Senzer NN, et al. Benzydamine HCL for prophylaxis of radiation-induced oral mucositis: results from a multicenter, randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled clinical trial. Cancer 2001; 92(4): 875-85
- 67. Brizel DM, Overgaard J.Does amifostine have a role in chemoradiation treatment? Lancet Oncology 2003; 4:593.
- 68. Sutherland SE, Browman GP. Prophylaxis of oral mucositis in irradiated head-and-neck cancer patients: a proposed classification scheme of interventions and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2001; 49(4): 917-30
- 69. Ship, J.A., Eisbruch, A., D'Hondt, E. Parotid sparing study in head and neck cancer patients receiving bilateral radiation therapy: one year results. J.Dent.Res. 1997; 76(3): 807-813
- 70. Chambers MS, Rosenthal DI, Weber RS. Radiation-induced xerostomia. Head and Neck 2007; 29: 58-63
- 71. Eisbruch A. Reducing xerostomia by IMRT: what may, or may not, be achieved. J Clin Oncol 2007. 25: 4862-4
- 72. Jensen SB, Pedersen A, Vissink A, Andersen E, Brown C et al. A systematic review of salivary gland hypofunction and xerostomia induced by cancer therapies: management strategies and economic impact. Support Care Cancer 2010; 18:1061-1079
- 73. Cancer Care Ontario Practice Guidelines Initiative. The role of amifostine as a radioprotectant in the management of patients with squamous cell head and neck cancer. Practice Guideline Report. 2004. Available from www.cancercare.on.ca
- 74. Schuchter IM, Hensley ML, Meropol NJ et al., Update of recommendations for the use of chemotherapy and radiotherapy protectants: clinical practice guidelines of the American Society of Clinical Oncology. J Clin Oncol 2002; 20:2895-2903
- 75. Cancer Care Ontario Practice Guidelines Initiative. Symptomatic treatment of radiation-induced xerostomia in head and neck cancer patients (revised). 2002. Available from www.cancercare.on.ca
- 76. National Institute for Clinical Excellence. Improving Outcomes in Head and Neck Cancers. London 2004
- 77. Davies AN, Shorthose K. Parasympathomimetic drugs for the treatment of salivary gland dysfunction due to radiotherapy. Cochrane Database Sys Rev 2007; issue 3
- 78. Johnson, J.T., Ferretti, G.A., Nethery, W.J., Valdez, I.H., Fox, P.C. et al. Oral pilocarpine for post-irradiation xerostomia in patients with head and neck cancer. New Engl J Med. 1993: 329: 390-395.
- 79. LeVeque, F.G., Montgomery, M, Potter, D, Zimmer, M.B, Rieke, J.W. et al. A multicenter randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled, dose-titration study of oral pilocarpine for treatment of radiation induce xerostomia in head and neck cancer patients. J Clinical Oncology. 1993; 11:1124-1131.
- 80. Valdex, I.H, Wolff, A, Atkinson, J.C., Macynski, A.A, Fox, P.C. Use of pilocarpine during head and neck radiation therapy to reduce xerostomia and salivary dysfunction. Cancer. 1993: 71(5): 1848-1851.
- 81. Nieuw Amerongen AV, Veerman ECI. Current therapies for xerostomia and salivary gland hypofunction associated with cancer therapies. 2003, Support Care Cancer 2003 11: 226-231
- 82. Porter SR, Fedele S, Habbab KM. Xerostomia in head and neck malignancy. Oral Oncology 2010; 46: 460-463
- 83. Epstein JB, Emerton S, Le ND, Stevenson-Moore P. A double-blind crossover trial of Oral Balance gel and Biotene toothpaste versus placebo in patients with xerostomia following radiation therapy. Oral Oncology 1999; 35; 2:132-137
- 84. Kirstila, V, Lenander-Lumikari, M, Soderling, E, Tenovuo, J. Effects of oral hygiene products containing lactoperoxidase, lysozyme and lactoferrin on the composition of whole saliva and on the subjective oral symptoms in patients with xerostomia. Acta Odontol Scand 1996: 54: 391-397.
- 85. Shahdad SA, Taylor C, Barclay SC, Steen IN, Preshaw PM. Double-blind, crossover study of Biotene Oralbalance and BioXtra systems as salivary substitutes in patients with post-radiotherapy xerostomia. Eupopean J Cancer Care 2005; 14: 319-326
- 86. Stafford, G.D, Arendorf, T, Huggett, R. The effect of overnight drying and water immersion on candidal colonization and properties of complete dentures. J.Dent. 1986; 14(2): 52-56.
- 87. Addems A, Epstein J, Damji S, Spinelli J. The lack of efficacy of a foam brush in maintaining gingival health: a controlled study. Special Care in Dentistry 1992; 12 (3):103-106
- 88. Fayle, S.A., Duggal, M.S., Williams, S.A. Oral problems and the dentists role in the management of paediatric oncology patients. Dental Update 1992:May: 152-159.
- 89. Bowsher J, Boyle S Griffiths J. A clinical effectiveness systematic rewiew of oral care. Nursing standard. 1999; 13 (37): 31
- 90. Griffiths J, Jones V, Leeman I, Lewis D, Patel K, Wilson K. Guidelines for the development of local standards of Oral health for dependent, dysphagic, critically and terminally ill Patients. British Society for Disability and Oral Health January 2000
- 91. Ayers K, Colquhoun A. Leukaemia in children. Part II Dental care of the leukaemic child, including management of oral side effects of cancer treatment. New Zealand Dental Journal 2000; 96: 141-144 IIB
- Jaffe, N, Toth, B.B. et al. Dental and maxillo-facial abnormalities in long term survivors of childhood cancer: effects of treatment with chemotherapy and radiation of the head and neck. Paediatrics 1984: 73: 816-823. IIB
- 93. Nasman, M., Bjork, O., Soderhall, S., Ringden, O., Dahloff, G. Disturbances in the oral cavity in pediatric long-term survivors after different forms of antineoplastic therapy. Pediatr Dent 1994; 16: 217-23. IB
- 94. Duggal, M.S., Curzon, M.E.J., Bailey, C.C., et al. Dental Parameters in the Long Term Survivors of Childhood Cancer compared with Siblings. Oral Oncology. 1997: 33: 348-353. IB
- 95. Nice 2005 improving outcomes in children and young people with cancer IA
- 96. AAPD Guideline on management of pediatric patients receiving chemotherapy, hematopoietic cell transplantation and/or radiation 2008 IA
- 97. Euvrard S, Kanitakis J, Claudy A. Skin cancers after organ transplantation. N England Journal of Medicine 2003;348(17):1681-91. IIB
- 98. Seymour, R.A., Smith, D.G. The effect of a plaque control programme on the incidence and severity of cyclosporin-induced gingival changes. J Clin Periodontol 1991: 18: 107-110. IIB
- 99. Department of health delivery of better oral health an evidence based toolkit for prevention. BASCD 2009 IA

- 100. Bondestam, O., Gahnberg L., Sund, M.L., Linder, L. Effect of chlorhexidine gel treatment on the prevalence of mutans streptococci and lactobacilli in patients with impaired salivary secretion rate. Spec Care Dentist 1996; 16:123-7. IIB
- 101. Horst, R.W. Trismus: it's causes, effect and treatment. ORL Head Neck Nurs 1994: 12: 11-12. IIB
- 102. Brunello, D.L., Mandikos, M.N. The use of a dynamic opening device in the treatment of radiation induced trismus. Aust Prosthodont J 1995: 9: 45-48. IB
- 103. Scully C, Epstein JB. Oral health care for the cancer patient. Eur J Cancer B Oral Oncol 1996;32B(5):281-92. IIB
- 104. Langdon, J, Henk, J.M. Malignant tumours of the mouth, jaws and salivary glands. J Edward Arnold. London. 1995. IIB
- 105. Zahrowski J.J. Bisphosphonate treatment: An orthodontic concern for a proactive approach. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop 2007;131(3):311-20 IIB
- 106. Dahllof, G, Forsberg, C.M. et al. Facial growth and morphology in long term survivors after bone marrow transplantation. Eur J Orthod 1989: 11: 332-340 IB
- 107. Galler, C, Epstein, J.B, et al. The Development of Osteoradionecrosis from sites of periodontal disease activity: Report of three cases. J. Periodontol. 1992: 63: 310-316.
- 108. Yusof, Z.W., Bakri, M.M. Severe progressive periodontal destruction due to radiation tissue injury. J.Periodontol 1993: 64: 1253-1258. Grade III
- 109. Epstein JB, Stevenson-Moore P. Periodontal disease and periodontal management in patients with cancer. Oral Oncol 2001;378: 613-619. Grade II
- 110. Committee on Research, Science and Therapy of the American Academy of Periodontology. Periodontal considerations in the management of the cancer patient. J. Periodontol 1997; 68: 791-801. Grade II
- 111. Al-Nawas B, Grötz KA. Prospective study of the long term change of the oral flora after radiation therapy. Supp Care Cancer 2006; 14: 291–296. Grade II
- 112. Katsura K, Sasai K, Sato K, Saito M, Hoshina H, Hayashi T. Relationship between oral health status and development of osteoradionecrosis of the mandible: a retrospective longitudinal study. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral RadiolEndod. 2008 Jun:105(6):731-8. Grade II
- 113. Marques MA, Dib LL. Periodontal changes in patients undergoing radiotherapy. J Periodontol. 2004 Sep;75(9):1178-87. Grade II
- 114. Kielbassa AM, Hinkelbein W, Hellwig E, Meyer-Lückel H. Radiation-related damage to dentition. Lancet Oncol. 2006 Apr;7(4):326-35. Grade II
- 115. Kantarci A, Cebeci I, Tuncer O, Carin M, Firatli E. Clinical effects of periodontal therapy on the severity of cyclosporin A-induced gingival hyperplasia. J Periodontol. 1999 Jun;70(6):587-93. Grade II
- 116. Gunay H, Evers, B.G. Treatment-effect on cyclosporin-A-induced gingival hyperplasia in patients with organ transplation: a longitudinal study. Parodontol 1990: 1: 329-342. In German so unable to grade
- 117. Arduino PG, Porter SR.Oral and perioral herpes simplex virus type 1 (HSV-1) infection: review of its management. Oral Dis. 2006 May;12(3):254-70. Grade I
- 118. British National Formulary March 2011. British Medical Journal Publishing Group and Pharmaceutical Press. Grade I
- 119. Hong CH, Napeñas JJ, Hodgson BD, Stokman MA, Mathers-Stauffer V, Elting LS,Spijkervet FK, Brennan MT; Dental Disease Section, Oral Care Study Group,Multi-national Association of Supportive Care in Cancer MASCC)/InternationalSociety of Oral Oncology (ISOO). A systematic review of dental disease in patients undergoing cancer therapy. Support Care Cancer. 2010 Aug;18(8):1007-21 Grade II
- 120. Chung EM, Sung EC. Dental management of chemoradiation patients. J Calif Dent Assoc. 2006 Sep;34(9):735-42 Grade II
- 121. Nabil S, Samman N. Incidence and prevention of osteoradionecrosis after dental extraction in irradiated patients: a systematic review. Int J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2011 Mar;40(3):229-43. Grade I
- 122. Ruggiero S, Gralow J, Marx RE, Hoff AO, Schubert MM, Huryn JM, Toth B, Damato K, Valero V. Practical guidelines for the prevention, diagnosis, and treatment of osteonecrosis of the jaw in patients with cancer. J Oncol Pract. 2006 Jan;2(1):7-14. Grade II
- 123. Koga DH, Salvajoli JV, Alves FA. Dental extractions and radiotherapy in head and neck oncology: review of the literature. Oral Dis. 2008 Jan;14(1):40-4. Grade II
- 124. Maxymiw WG, Wood RE, Liu FF. Postradiation dental extractions without hyperbaric oxygen. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol. 1991 Sep;72(3):270-4. Grade II
- 125. Makkonen, T.A., Kiminki, A., Makkonen, T.K., Nordman, E. Dental extractions in relation to radiation therapy of 224 patients. Int J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 1987: 16: 56-64. Grade III
- 126. Bennett MH, Feldmeier J, Hampson N, Smee R, Milross C. Hyperbaric oxygen therapy for late radiation tissue injury. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2005 Jul 20;(3) Grade I
- 127. Clayman, L. Clinical controversies in oral and maxillofacial surgery: Part two. Management of dental extractions in irradiated jaws: a protocol without hyperbaric oxygen. J Oral. Maxillofacial Surg. 1997: 55: No. 3: 275-281. Grade II
- 128. Kielbassa AM, Attin T, Schaller HG, Hellwig E. Endodontic therapy in a postirradiated child: review of the literature and report of a case. Quintessence Int. 1995 Jun;26(6):405-11. Grade III
- 129. Finlay, P.M., Dawson, F. Robertson, A.G., Soutar, D.S. An evaluation of functional outcome after surgery and radiotherapy for intra-oral cancer. British Journal of Oral & Maxillofacial Surgery. 1992; 30: 14-17. Grade II
- 130. Esposito M, Worthington HV, Coulthard P. Interventions for replacing missing teeth: dental implants in zygomatic bone for the rehabilitation of the severely deficient edentulous maxilla. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2005 Oct 19;(4):CD004151. Review. PubMed PMID: 16235352. Grade 1
- 131. Esposito M, Grusovin MG, Patel S, Worthington HV, Coulthard P. Interventions for replacing missing teeth: hyperbaric oxygen therapy for irradiated patients who require dental implants. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2008 Jan 23;(1): CD003603. Grade I
- 132. Guidelines for selecting appropriate patients to receive treatment with dental implants. Priorities for the NHS. Faculty of Dental Surgery, National Clinical Guidelines 1997, Royal College of Surgeons. Grade II

- 133. Galler, C, Epstein, J.B, et al. The Development of Osteoradionecrosis from sites of periodontal disease activity: Report of three cases. J. Periodontol. 1992: 63: 310-316. Grade II
- 134. McLeod NM, Bater MC, Brennan PA. Management of patients at risk of osteoradionecrosis: results of survey of dentists and oral & maxillofacial surgery units in the United Kingdom, and suggestions for best practice. Br J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2010 Jun;48(4):301-4. Grade III
- 135. Walker DM, Stafford GD, Huggett R, Newcombe RG. The treatment of denture-induced stomatitis. Evaluation of two agents. Br Dent J. 1981 Dec 15;151(12):416-9. Grade I
- 136. Turner M, Jahangiri L, Ship JA. Hyposalivation, xerostomia and the complete denture: a systematic review. J Am Dent Assoc. 2008 Feb;139(2):146-50. Grade I
- 137. Sinclair, G.F., Frost, P.M., Walter, J.D. New design for an artificial saliva reservoir for the mandibular complete denture. J Prosthet Dent 1996; 75: 276-80. Grade III
- 138. Mendoza AR, Tomlinson MJ. The split denture: a new technique for artificial saliva reservoirs in mandibular dentures. Aust Dent J. 2003 Sep;48(3):190-4. Grade III
- 139. Pemberton, M.N., Sloan, P., Ariyaratnam, S., Thakker, N.S., Thornhill, M.H. Derangement of warfarin anti-coagulation by miconazole oral gel. BDJ, 1998, Vol 184, No. 2, 68,69. Grade II
- 140. Thomas CJ. Nutt GM. The in vitro fungicidal properties of Viscogel alone and combined with Nystatin and Amphotericin B. J. Oral Rehab. 1978; 5: 167-172. Grade II
- 141. Quinn DM. The effectiveness, in vitro, of miconazole and ketoconazole combinedwith tissue conditioners in inhibiting the growth of Candida albicans. J OralRehabil. 1985 Mar;12(2):177-82. Grade II
- 142. Truhlar MR, Shay K, Sohnle P. Use of a new assay technique for quantification of antifungal activity of nystatin incorporated in denture liners. J Prosthet Dent. 1994 May;71(5):517-24. Grade II
- 143. Geerts GA, Stuhlinger ME, Basson NJ. Effect of an antifungal denture liner on the saliva yeast count in patients with denture stomatitis: a pilot study. J Oral Rehabil. 2008 Sep;35(9):664-9. Grade II
- 144. Falah-Tafti A, Jafari AA, Lotfi-Kamran MH, Fallahzadeh H, Hayan RS. A Comparison of the eFficacy of Nystatin and Fluconazole Incorporated into Tissue Conditioner on the In Vitro Attachment and Colonization of Candida Albicans. Dent Res J (Isfahan). 2010 Winter;7(1):18-22. Grade II
- 145. Catalán A, Pacheco JG, Martínez A, Mondaca MA. In vitro and in vivo activity of Melaleuca alternifolia mixed with tissue conditioner on Candida albicans. OralSurg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod. 2008 Mar;105(3):327-32. Grade II
- 146. Neppelenbroek KH, Pavarina AC, Palomari Spolidorio DM, Sgavioli Massucato EM, Spolidorio LC, Vergani CE. Effectiveness of microwave disinfection of complete dentures on the treatment of Candida-related denture stomatitis. J Oral Rehabil. 2008 Nov;35(11):836-46. Grade II
- 147. British National Formulary March 2011. British Medical Journal Publishing Group and Pharmaceutical Press. Grade I
- 148. Committee on Research, Science and Therapy of the American Academy of Periodontology. Periodontal considerations in the management of the cancer patient. J. Periodontol 1997; 68: 791-801.
- 149. Store G, Boysen M. Clin Otolaryngol Allied Sci. 2000 Oct;25(5): 378-84
- 150. Javier Silvestre-Rangil, Francisco-Javier Silvestre Clinico-therapeutic management of osteoradionecrosis: A literature review and update. Med Oral Patol Oral Cir Bucal
- 151. Kanatas A.N., Rogers S.N., Martin M.V. A practical guide for patients undergoing exodontia following radiotherapy to the oral cavity. Dent Update. 2002 Dec;29(10): 498-503.
- 152. Delanian S, Chatel C, Porcher R, Depondt J, Lefaix J.L. Complete restoration of refractory mandibular osteoradionecrosis by prolongued treatment with a pentoxifylline-Tocopherol-clodronate combination (PENTOCLO): A phase II trial. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys.2010 Jul 15(Epub ahead of print).
- 153. Kanatas A.N., Rogers S.N., Martin M.V. A survey of antibiotic prescribing by maxillofacial consultants for dental extractions following radiotherapy to the oral cavity.Br Dent J. 2002 Feb 9; 192(3):157-60.
- 154. McLeod N.M., Bater M.C., Brennan P.A. Management of patients at risk of osteoradionecrosis: results of survey of dentists and oral & maxillofacial surgery units in the United Kingdom, and suggestions for best practice.Br J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2010 Jun;48(4):301-4.
- 155. Hall V. Actinomyces--gathering evidence of human colonization and infection. Anaerobe. 2008 Feb;14(1):1-7. Epub 2007 Dec 5.
- 156. StÃ, re G, Eribe ER, Olsen I DNA-DNA hybridization demonstrates multiple bacteria in osteoradionecrosis.Int J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2005 Mar;34(2):193-6.
- 157. Reher, P., Doan, N., Bradnock, B., Meghji, S., Harris, M. Therapeutic ultrasound for osteoradionecrosis: an in vitro comparison between 1 Mhz and 45kHz machines. Eur J Cancer 1998; 34: 1962-8.
- 158. Chrcanovic BR, Reher P, Sousa A, Harris M. Osteoradionecrosis of the jaws—a current overview—part 1: Physiopathology and risk and predisposing factors. Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2010 Mar;14(1):3-16
- 159. Bennett M.H., Feldmeier J, Hampson N, Smee R, Milross C. Hyperbaric oxygen therapy for late radiation tissue injury. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2005, Issue 3. Art. No.: CD005005. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD005005.pub2This version first published online: July 20. 2005 Last assessed as up-to-date: August 23. 2008
- 160. Diagnosis and management of head and neck cancer. A national clinical guideline www.sign.ac.uk October 2006
- 161. Richard J. Shaw, Jagtar Dhanda Hyperbaric oxygen in the management of late radiation injury to the head and neck. Part I: treatment. British Journal of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery 49 (2011) 2–8
- 162. Richard J. Shaw, Christopher Butterworth Hyperbaric oxygen in the management of late radiation injury to the head and neck. Part II: prevention. British Journal of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery 49 (2011) 9–13
- 163. Hyperbaric oxygen therapy at 2-2.5 atmospheres pressure for 1.5 2hours per day. Up to 80 sessions have been recommended to treat severe cases of osteoradionecrosis.
- 164. Lambert, P.M., Intiere, N, Eichstaedt, R. Clinical controversies in oral and maxillofacial surgery: Part One. Management of dental extractions in irradiated jaws: a protocol with hyperbaric oxygen. J Oral Maxillofacial Surg 1997: 55: 268-274.

- 165. London, S.D., Park, S.S., Gampper, T.J., Hoard, M.A. Hyperbaric oxygen for the management of radionecrosis of bone and cartilage. Laryngoscope 1998; 108: 1291-6.
- 166. Paultke C, Bauer F, Bissinger O, Tischer t, Kreutzer K, Steiner T, Weitz J, Otto s, Wolff KD, Sturzenbaum SR, Kolk A, Tetracycline bone fluorescence: a valuable marker for osteoradionecrosis characterization and therapy. J Oral Maxillofac Surg.2010 Jan;68(1):125-9
- 167. Hidalgo DA, Pusic AL Free-flap mandibular reconstruction: a 10-year follow-up study. Plast Reconstr Surg. 2002 Aug;110(2):438-49; discussion 450-1.
- 168. Baumann DP, Yu P, Hanasono MM, Skoracki RJ. Free flap reconstruction of osteoradionecrosis of the mandible: a 10-year review and defect classification. Head Neck. 2011 Jun;33(6):800-7. doi: 10.1002/hed.21537. Epub 2010 Nov 12.
- 169. Yanagiya, K, Takato, T, Akagawa, T, Harii, K. Reconstruction of large defects that include the mandible with scapular, osteocutaneous and forearm flaps: report of cases. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 1993: 51: 439-444.
- 170. Serletti, J.M., Coniglio, J.U., Tavin, E., Bakamjianm, V.Y. Simultaneous transfer of free fibula and radial forearm flaps for complex oromandibular reconstruction. J. Reconstr Microsurg 1998; 14: 297-303.

5 Tables 2 and 3- Acute and Chronic Changes During and After Therapy

- 171. Sonis, S.T, Lockhart, P.B. Oral complications of chemotherapy and their management. In: Shklar, G. Oral cancer: the diagnosis, therapy, management and rehabilitation of oral cancer patient. Ed I. Philadlphia, W.B. Saunders Co. 1984: pp186-201.
- 172. Dreizen, S. Description of incidence of oral complications N.I.H. Consensus Development Conference on Oral Complications of Cancer Therapies. Diagnosis, prevention and treatment. National Cancer Institute Monograph 1990: 9: 11.
- 173. Mattsson, T., Heimdahl, A., Dahllof, G., Nilsson, B., Lonnqvist, B., Ringden, O. Variables predicting oral mucosal lesions in allogenic bone marrow recipients. Head Neck 1991; 13: 224-9.
- 174. Levine, A.S., Schimpff, S.C. et al. Haematological malignancies and other marrow failure states: progress in management of complicating infections. Seminars in haematology 1974: 11: 141-202.
- 175. Thompson, R.B. Disorders of the blood. 1st edition. Chapter 39, pp 586-633. Edinburgh, Churchill Livingstone.
- 176. Epstein, J.B., Lunn, R., Le N, Stevenson-Moore, P. Periodontal attachment loss in patients after head and neck radiation therapy. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod 1998; 86: 673-7.
- 177. Carl, W. Oral complications of local and systemic cancer treatment. Curr Opin Oncol 1995; 7: 320-4.
- 178. Dens, F., Boogaerts, M., Boute, P., Declerck, D., Demuynck, H., Vinckier, F., Belgium, B. Caries-related salivary microorganisms and salivary flow rate in bone marrow recipients. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod 1996; 81: 38-43
- 179. McElroy, T. Infection in the patient receiving chemotherapy for cancer: Oral considerations. J. Am Dent. Assoc. 1984: 109: 454-6.
- 180. Fine, L. Dental care of the radiated patient. J. Hosp. Dent. Pract. 1975: 9: 127-132.
- 181. Ross, P., Holbrook, W. Clinical and Oral Microbiology. Oxford: Blackwell Scientific Publications, 1984.

TABLES

TABLE 1: MANAGEMENT GUIDELINES RELATIVE TO INVASIVE DENTAL PROCEDURES

Medical Status	Guidelines Available	Comments					
Patients with indwelling venous access lines (e.g., Hickman).	American Heart Association (AHA) prophylactic antibiotic recommendations: low risk	There is no clear scientific proof detailing infectious risk for these lines following dental procedures.					
Neutrophils Only 5DO (CHAIN A 1997) - ith differential							
Order FBC (full blood count) with differential.							
>2,000/mm ³	AHA prophylactic antibiotic recommendations: No prophylactic antibiotics.						
1,000–2,000/mm ³	AHA prophylactic antibiotic recommendations: low risk.	Liaise with the oncologist Clinical judgment is critical. If infection is present or unclear, more aggressive antibiotic therapy may be indicated.					
<1,000/mm ³	AHA prophylactic antibiotic recommendations: Amikacin 150mg/m ² 1 h pre-surgery; ticarcillin 75 mg/kg IV ½ h pre-surgery. Repeat both 6 h	The antibiotic regimen suggested by AHA is not used widely in the U.K. where amoxicillin / clindamycin are more often used.					
	postoperatively.	Liaise with the oncologist					
		If organisms are known or suspected, appropriate adjustments should be based on sensitivities.					

Table 1 contd.

Medical Status	Guidelines Available	Comments
Platelets * Order platelet count and	coagulation tests.	
>60,000/mm ³	National Cancer Institute guidelines (www.cancer.gov) No additional support needed.	Major surgery may require platelet supplementation
30,000–60,000/mm ³	Platelet transfusions are optional for non-invasive treatment For surgical treatment (e.g., dental extractions), consider administering platelets preoperatively and 24 h later	Liaise with the oncologist Platelet requirements will also depend on the extent of the surgery required / need for block injections Utilise techniques to promote establishing and maintaining control of bleeding (i.e. sutures, pressure packs, minimise trauma).
<30,000/mm ³	Platelets should be transfused 1 h before procedure Obtain an immediate post-infusion platelet count; transfuse regularly to maintain counts >30,000–40,000/mm³ until initial healing has occurred. In some instances, platelet counts >60,000/mm³ may be required.	In addition to the above, consider using haemostatic agents (i.e., microfibrillar collagen, topical thrombin). Tranexamic acid may help stabilise nondurable clots. Monitor sites carefully.

^{*}Assumes that all other coagulation parameters are within normal limits and that platelet counts will be maintained at or above the specified level until initial stabilization/healing has occurred

TABLE 2: ACUTE CHANGES DURING THERAPY

Acute Change	Explanatory Notes	Radiotherapy	Chemotherapy	Bone Marrow Transplantation (Chemotherapy and Total Body Irradiation)
1. Mucositis 171.172	 Acute inflammation of the mucosa White/yellow fibrinous slough, often with ulceration Painful to speak/eat/swallow Portal for microbial entry Healing complete 2-3 weeks post-completion cancer therapy 	Onset 12-15 days after treatment commenced	 Onset usually one week after treatment commencement Ulceration often severe 	 Onset usually one week after treatment commencement Ulceration often severe
2. Blood Changes ¹⁷¹	 Anaemia Neutropenia Thrombocytopenia Present from commencement of cancer therapy until up to 4 weeks post therapy 		 Spontaneous gingival/mucosal bleeding Crusting of lips 	 Spontaneous gingival/mucosal bleeding Crusting of lips

Table 2 contd.

1	Acute Change	Explanatory Notes	Radiotherapy	Chemotherapy	Bone Marrow Transplantation (Chemotherapy and Total Body Irradiation)
3.	Immuno- suppression 173-176	 Increases susceptibility to bacterial/candidal/viral disease Exacerbates pre-existing periodontal disease 		 Periapically involved teeth can become a medical emergency Acute herpetic gingivostomatitis and candida with systemic involvement in children 	Periapically involved teeth can become a medical emergency
4.	Changes in Salivary Flow/ Composition	 Saliva becomes thick, viscous, acidic Xerostomia results but is less common in children Onset within 14 hours of cancer therapy 	 Xerostomia can be prolonged Can last up to 2 years post therapy Often permanent 	Salivary flow usually returns to normal within 2 months	Salivary flow rarely returns to normal
5.	Acute Ascending Sialadenitis	Can occur in children as a complication of xerostomia	·		

Table 2 contd.

Acute Char	ge Explanatory Notes	Radiotherapy	Chemotherapy	Bone Marrow Transplantation (Chemotherapy and Total Body Irradiation)
6. Loss of Taste 175.17	 Onset on treatment commencement Related to xerostomia and direct damage to taste buds Sense of taste often returns with an unpleasant interim period of altered taste 			
7. Dysphagia 176.177	As a result of mucositis and xerostomia			Can be very severe due to severe ulceration
8. Changes i Oral Flora ^{178.179}	 Due to reduced buffering action and antibacterial action of saliva Increase in cariogenic organisms within 2 weeks of cancer therapy Increased susceptibility to candidal/viral infections 	 Oral candidiasis more likely Implications for increased dental caries 	Oral Candidiasis: - pseudomem- branous candidiasis with ulceration and perioral inflammation	 Oral candidiasis: severe with ulceration if persistent, indicative of systemic involvement Acute herpetic gingivostomatitis Cytomegalovirus and Varicella zoster virus infections

Table 2 contd.

Acute Change	Explanatory Notes	Radiotherapy	Chemotherapy	Bone Marrow Transplantation (Chemotherapy and Total Body Irradiation)
9. Periodontal / Gingival Disease ¹⁸⁰	Can be exacerbated by oral flora changes, mucositis, xerostomia and immunosuppression	Acute gingivitis	 Acute gingivitis Pericoronitis in children Gingival hyperplasia in acute myeloblastic leukaemia 	Acute gingivitisPericoronitis in children
10.Tooth Sensitivity ¹⁷²	Increased risk of toothwear and/or gingival recession present prior to cancer therapy			
11. Dental Pain	 Related to leukaemic infiltration of dental pulp tissue and direct jaw infiltration 		Toothache -like pain related to vincristine administration	
12.Trismus	Must exclude posterior invasion of carcinoma into pterygomasseteric muscles as a cause		 Can occur in children Jaw Pain related to vincristine administration 	
13.Graft Versus Host Disease	Can occur in an acute form after bone marrow transplantation and be followed by a chronic form			

TABLE 3: CHRONIC CHANGES FOLLOWING THERAPY

Chronic Change	Explanatory Notes	Radiotherapy	Chemotherapy	Bone Marrow Transplantation (Chemotherapy and Total Body Irradiation)
1. Progressive endarteritis	 Occurs in irradiated bone, especially the mandible Can occur in muscle and cause trismus 3-6 months post therapy Uncommon in children 	 Implications for dental extractions / surgery (see management guidelines) 		Implications for dental extractions / surgery (see management guidelines)
2. Blood Changes	AnaemiaNeutropeniaThrombocytopeniaProlonged by maintenance chemotherapy		Implications for dental treatment (Table 4)	Implications for dental treatment (Table 4)
3. Trismus	 Must exclude posterior invasion of carcinoma into pterygomasseteric muscles as a cause Predominantly due to fibrosis as a direct effect of radiotherapy, but also related to endarteritis 			

Table 3 contd.

Chronic Change	Explanatory Notes	Radiotherapy	Chemotherapy	Bone Marrow Transplantation (Chemotherapy and Total Body Irradiation)
4. Prolonged Oral Flora Changes ³	Increase in cariogenic organisms and candida	 Increased susceptibility to dental caries Candidiasis more likely especially in denture wearers 		 Increased susceptibility to dental caries Candidiasis more likely
5. Xerostomia ¹⁴⁸	 May last up to 2 years post therapy It is often considered permanent although this can be subjective Predisposes to dental caries 	 More prolonged if parotid glands are in the irradiation field Salivary output can be maintained by ipsilateral parotid sparing during radiotherapy⁶⁹ 		

Table 3 contd.

C	Chronic Change	Explanatory Notes	Radiotherapy	Chemotherapy	Bone Marrow Transplantation (Chemotherapy and Total Body Irradiation)
6.	Tooth Erosion ¹⁸¹	Due to prolonged xerostomia, removing protective action of saliva			
7.	Periodontal / Gingival Disease ¹⁷⁶	 Can continue to be exacerbated by xerostomia and oral flora changes Gingival recession 	Rapid progression of periodontal disease		Rapid progression of periodontal disease can occur in children
8.	Adrenal Suppression	Can occur as a result of corticosteroid therapy			

TABLE 4: NURSING ORAL CARE GUIDELINES

1. PRIOR TO CANCER THERAPY

Objective	Nursing Action	
Referral of all patients for a comprehensive assessment by a Dental Surgeon prior to cancer therapy	 Complete Oral Health Screening Chart (Appendix 1) and forward to dental team Liaise with the Dental team to develop and implement an individual care plan 	
2. Advice on the oral side effects of treatment	 Provide written information on side effects of treatment (Appendix 3) Give support and encouragement 	
3. Preventive advice	 See Practical Oral Care (Appendix 2) Ensure oral hygiene equipment is available Give support and encouragement with smoking cessation and alcohol problems Give dietary advice in liaison with the Dietician Provide written information (Appendix 4)* 	

^{*} Advise About Support Groups: Cancer BACUP : Changing Faces : Let's Face It; Macmillan Cancer Support

2. DURING CANCER THERAPY

Objective	Nursing Action
1. Maintenance of oral hygiene	 Provide advice and assistance where appropriate Follow Practical Oral Care (Appendix 2)
2. Inspection of the oral cavity should be carried out daily	 The Oral Assessment Guide (Appendix 3) should be completed daily and placed in the patient's individual care plan: contact the dental team for guidance prior to completion if required Document findings in the patient's individual care plan to monitor any changes Refer to the dental team when indicated
3. Monitor compliance in performing oral care	 Supervise and provide assistance; give instructions to carers where appropriate Give support and encouragement
4. Pain control	 Give topical / systemic analgesia, as directed Refer to main clinical guideline: Explanatory notes para 2.3.7
5. Oral candidal infections (Thrush)	 Give topical / systemic antifungal agents, as prescribed If chlorhexidine gluconate mouthwash and nystatin suspension are prescribed, stagger their use by one hour Refer to main clinical guideline: Explanatory notes para 2.3.6
6. Manage xerostomia	 Give advice to help with a dry mouth Refer to main clinical guideline: Explanatory notes para 2.3.8 Ensure recommended saliva substitute is prescribed and used when appropriate

3. AFTER CANCER THERAPY

Objective	Nursing Action
Arrange follow-up visit to the dental team	 Provide the patient or carer with a contact telephone number Arrange an appointment To ensure follow up occurs when the patient is discharged, an oral care entry should be made in the summary notes / discharge letter
2. Reinforce preventive messages	 Provide equipment for home care where appropriate Ensure patient information leaflet has been provided to support the advice given

AP	PEN	DIC	ES
			_

APPENDIX 1: ORAL HEALTH CARE SCREENING CHART

N.B. Please forward to the Do	ental Team <u>prior</u> to	the commencement of Cancer Ther	ару			
Name:		Hospital:				
D.O.B.:		Consultant:				
Address:		Inpatients:				
		Ward:				
		Ward telephone no:				
		Date admitted:				
Telephone no:		Duration of stay:				
Diagnosis:	1. 2. 3.					
	1.	4.				
Past Medical History:	2.	5.				
	3.	6.				
	1.	4.				
Current Medication:	2.	5.				
	3.	6.				
Treatment to date:	1.					
(including radiotherapy and	2.					
chemotherapy)	3.					
Treatment proposed with	1.					
dates: (including radiotherapy and	2.					
chemotherapy)	3.					
Tick as appropriate:						
URGENT		ROUTINE				
(Contact Dental Team by phone) Signature:		Date:				
Status:						

APPENDIX 2: PRACTICAL ORAL CARE:

Care of the edentulous patient should start at step 5. References relate to the Clinical Guideline reference list.

Oral Care	Notes
1. Tooth brushing	 Use a medium brush if possible, soft one if too sore Encourage or assist with gentle thorough brushing of teeth and gums at least twice daily Use a high fluoride toothpaste Spit out excess, do not rinse If toothbrushing has to be discontinued it should be resumed at the earliest opportunity.⁴³ Patients at risk of aspiration should have suction available and sit up
2. Aqueous alcohol free chlorhexidine gluconate mouthwash	 Recommended for short term use if tooth brushing is inadequate If toothbrushing is discontinued, use three to four times daily. 4.42-43 Thirty minutes should be allowed between use of chlorhexidine and tooth brushing Mouthwashes may need to be diluted for comfort, i.e. 10ml mouthwash to 10ml water, ensuring the whole diluted volume is used N.B. Stagger use of chlorhexidine mouthwash and nystatin antifungal agent - separate administration by at least one hour. 60
3. Fluoride mouthwash	 Fluoride should be used both during and after cancer therapy Use a high fluoride toothpaste when tooth brushing Use an alcohol free fluoride mouthwash daily as directed by the dental team Fluoride gel / varnish may be used, as directed by the dental team.⁴⁶⁻⁴⁹ Fluoride varnish should not be used during acute episodes of mucositis
4. Dietary advice	 Preventive advice to reduce the risk of dental decay, should be given in liaison with a Dietician. Emphasis should be placed on adequate hydration (Refer to para 2.2.2) Assist with healthy meal choices

Appendix 2 contd.

Oral Care	Notes
Gentle Swabbing of the Oral Tissues	 Where available, polygon/gauze swabs soaked in alcohol free chlorhexidine mouthwash may be used to gently clean the oral tissues.^{4,84} If the above cannot be tolerated, the swabs may be soaked in 0.9% saline (N.B. no antibacterial effect)
Moisten mouth and lips frequently	 Advise regular sips of water.⁷⁷ Oral Balance or similar gel may be applied to dry lips or mucosa, this can be particularly helpful at night Use recommended artificial saliva substitutes.^{78,79}
	Refer to main clinical guideline explanatory notes para 2.3.8
Swabs for candidal superinfection	 Regular swabs should be taken for detection of candida Topical / systemic antifungal agents should be prescribed following the diagnosis of candida. 51-59
	Refer to the main clinical guideline explanatory notes para 2.3.6

Appendix 2 contd.

Oral Care	Notes
8. Care of appliances	After each meal / at least twice daily, dentures and obturators should be removed and meticulously cleaned with a tooth or denture brush
	 It is advisable to do this over a basin of water to prevent damage if the appliance is dropped
	Rinse well before replacing in cleaned mouth.
	 Antifungal agents, as prescribed may be applied to the fit surface of the denture prior to re-insertion.
	 Remove all dentures at night and clean; soak in in chlorhexidine mouthwash overnight. An alternative is dilute sodium hypochlorite solution (Milton's diluted 1 in 80) provided there are no metal components. 47(IIB),83 If stored away from the patient they should be appropriately labelled.
9. Appliance wear	Removable prostheses should be left out of the mouth if there is any evidence of ulceration
	Dentures should be removed at night
	Denture should be moistened with water or an appropriate saliva substitute before reinsertion
	 Obturators should not be left out at night for the first 6 months. A specialist opinion should be sought if there is evidence of ulceration.

APPENDIX 3: ORAL ASSESSMENT GUIDE

Please insert appointment number in relevant box based on your clinical examination of the patient.

Contact the Dental Team for further advice on the management of patients with scores of 3.

PATIENT NAME :	PLEASE DATE AND SIGN									
ASSESSMENT	METHOD OF ASSESSMENT	DATE	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8
VOICE										
3 = difficult/ painful speech	Converse with	n the								
2 = deeper/ raspy	patient. Liste	n to								
1 = normal	crying									
SWALLOW										
3 = unable to swallow	Ask patient to	•								
2 = painful	swallow									
1 = normal										
LIPS AND ANGLE OF MOUTH			•	•	•	•		•		
3 = ulcerated / with or without bleeding	Observe and									
2 = dry / cracked	palpate the									
1 = normal	tissues									

ASSESSMENT	METHOD OF ASSESSMENT	DATE	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8
TONGUE										
3 = blistered / cracked 2 = coated or loss of papillae 1 = smooth, pink, moist	Observe the appearance of tissues	f the								
VOICE										
3 = absent 2 = thick / ropy 1 = watery	Insert tongue depressor and observe tongu floor of mouth	ie and								
MUCOUS MEMBRANES/GINGIVA										
3 = ulceration / bleeding - gentle pressure 2 = candidal infection suspected - reddened/coated or white patches 1 = pink and moist	Observe the appearance of tissues	f the								
ORAL CLEANSING COMPLIANCE										
3 = unable to clean2 = cleans but needs help1 = no difficulties	Observe tooth brushing / der cleaning									

(Adapted from Eilers, J., Berger, A., Peterson, M. Development, testing and application of the Oral Assessment Guide. Oncology Nursing Forum 15(3): pp 325-330a: 1988) Copyright Host Defence Unit Great Ormond Street Hospital Trust.

APPENDIX 4: PATIENT INFORMATION LEAFLET

Useful Addresses:

Cancer BACUP Changing Faces
3 Bath Place 1 & 2 Junction Mews

Rivington Street London
London W2 1PN
EC2A 3JR

BACS
British Association of Counselling
1 Regent Place
Rugby
Warwickshire
CV21 2PJ

Let's Face It Christine Piff 14 Fallowfield Yateley Hampshire GU46 6LW

Tel: 01252 879630 Fax: 01252 872633

Taking Care of Your Mouth During Radiotherapy

or

Chemotherapy

- Radiotherapy to the head and neck and chemotherapy are treatments that are used to remove cancer.
- Radiotherapy and Chemotherapy can have harmful effects in the mouth. Your oral health needs to be as good as possible before the start of treatment to avoid problems later.
- Ensure that you have a thorough dental check-up, including advice, from a dentist before therapy starts. If you don't have your own dentist this may be arranged by your oncology team.
- Throughout your radiotherapy or chemotherapy your mouth needs careful monitoring by either a dental hygienist or an appropriately trained nurse.

What can I expect during cancer treatment?

About two weeks after the start of treatment you may notice an increase in mouth ulcers and mouth soreness. Your mouth will become dry and there will be a loss of taste. These changes will make it difficult to swallow and eat. They are worst between two and five weeks after starting treatment after which they will gradually improve.

In this leaflet it is explained what can be done to help you cope with the unwanted effects of treatment.

Unwanted effects of treatment	What happens?	What can I do?	What to avoid
Loss of taste	The taste buds are damaged by radiotherapy and chemotherapy	 Unfortunately there is little you can do Taste will return, as it does you will notice an unpleasant taste for a time but this will improve 	 Sweet food or drinks – a great temptation at this time but if taken between meals or before bedtime you will rapidly get tooth decay
Difficulty swallowing	Dryness and Soreness of the mouth makes swallowing difficult	 Rinse your mouth or gargle with Difflam, a pain relieving mouth wash, before eating Eat moist food and sip water frequently 	Alcohol will increase mouth dryness
Jaw stiffness	The muscles that move the jaw can become stiff as the result of the radiotherapy	 Gentle jaw exercises will be given to you You may be given an appliance to help you 	

Unwanted effects of treatment	What happens?	What can I do?	What to avoid	
Dry mouth	Saliva moistens the mouth and protects against tooth decay and tooth sensitivity. Radiotherapy damages the glands which produce saliva. The dryness is worse during treatment but slowly improves. Saliva may not return completely.	 Sip water frequently. Chew sugar-free gum. Discuss saliva substitutes with the dentist / doctor (make sure it contains fluoride and is not acidic). Oral gel, e.g. Oral balance lubricates the lips and tongue and will help you to sleep at night. 	 Fizzy drinks, diet drinks and fruit juice are acidic and will make your teeth sensitive. Try and avoid food or drinks containing sugar between meals. Avoid acidic foods. 	
Sore mouth	 Radiotherapy and chemotherapy damages normal cells. The inside of the mouth, tongue and throat may become red, sore and ulcerated. You may find it uncomfortable to eat, speak, swallow and brush your teeth. The soreness may be due to a thrush infection. 	 Clean your teeth with a fluoride toothpaste and soft toothbrush. Consider use of a mouthwash – ask for advice from the dentist or doctors. You may need medication if you have thrush. 	 Hard food, spicy food and hot drinks will be painful. Avoid alcohol and tobacco; they will make your mouth feel worse. Strongly flavoured tooth paste or mouthwash will be uncomfortable to use and should be avoided. 	

Unwanted effects of treatment	What happens?	What can I do?	What to avoid
Loss of weight	Saliva normally helps to protect the teeth. The absence of saliva encourages tooth decay. Mouth soreness, dryness and difficulty swallowing will reduce your appetite and enthusiasm for food.	 Eat high energy food such as pasta, bread, yams and potatoes It will be arranged for you to see a dietician if you are losing weight 	 Food or drink containing even small amounts of sugar between meals or before bedtime are damaging to the teeth. Limit sweet food and drinks to meal times only
Difficulty with dentures	Lack of saliva and mouth soreness makes dentures difficult to wear.	 See your dentist if your dentures are painful Clean your dentures carefully after each meal, at least twice daily Clean the dentures with alcohol-free chlorhexidine mouthwash or toothpaste and a brush Take your dentures out at night Soak in an appropriate cleanser overnight 	Leaving your dentures out all day during your cancer treatment can make them difficult to accommodate to when you need to use them later